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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good morning. I am

          3  Council Member Philip Reed, the Council Member of

          4  Consumer Affairs. I would like to start off this

          5  morning by recognizing my colleagues who have joined

          6  me, and I'm sure others will be. We're having one of

          7  those Monday mornings where there is, I hate to say

          8  competing hearings of the City Council, but many

          9  hearings of the City Council.

         10                 To my right is Oliver Koppell from

         11  the Bronx, a member of this Committee, and then

         12  there is Charles Barron, immediately next to him is

         13  also a member of this Committee. And to my left is

         14  Hiram Monserrate, who is from Queens, is not a

         15  member of this Committee but has been one of the

         16  people most involved with this issue of the Nielsen

         17  Media Research Company, and we're going to hear from

         18  him in a few moments.

         19                 Immediately also to my right is

         20  Deborah Brown, the Counsel to the Committee. She has

         21  always served us well and today she will be swearing

         22  in people before they testify.

         23                 This morning we will be discussing

         24  the use of Local People Meters in New York City by

         25  the Nielsen Media Research Company. And hearing
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          2  testimony on Resolution No. 268 by Council Member

          3  Hiram Monserrate.

          4                 The Resolution calls on Nielsen Media

          5  Research Company to delay the introduction of Local

          6  People Meter Service in NYC's media market until

          7  sufficient studies have been conducted to ensure a

          8  fair and accurate counting of all New York City

          9  viewers, regardless of race, ethnicity or national

         10  origin.

         11                 As many of you know, the Neilsen

         12  Company has attempted to introduce  Local People

         13  Meters as specific kind of tracking devices to

         14  monitor local viewership in the New York City media

         15  market.

         16                 In February when results of an

         17  initial test of this technology were announced,

         18  Nielsen found a significant drop in the viewing of

         19  shows popular with the Black and Latino community.

         20                 Since then, a broad group of

         21  advocates, community leaders, elected officials,

         22  television industry representatives, have argued

         23  that these LPMs undercount non-white viewers and

         24  have called for a delay in the implementation of the

         25  Local People Meters until this problem is addressed.
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          2                 In response, Nielsen has put off the

          3  roll-out date until June 3rd, and is evidently

          4  convening a task force to review the issue.

          5                 The company argues that it's

          6  attempting to work with elected officials and

          7  community leaders to address their concerns.

          8                 Today we'll be hearing from the

          9  senior manager from the Nielsen Company and from the

         10  leading organizers in the protest against the LPM

         11  system.

         12                 We'll also be hearing from the Public

         13  Advocate who has become very interested in this

         14  issue. We're delighted that so many significant

         15  figures have agreed to join us today, and we look

         16  forward to hearing their comments. I, myself, am

         17  curious about the testimony, not only in my capacity

         18  as Chair of Consumer Affairs and representatives of

         19  East Harlem, but my Counsel wanted you to know that

         20  I'm a big fan of the Parkers, that we wouldn't want

         21  to see that fall off the radar screen. I will get

         22  you for that Deborah. We were hoping Monique would

         23  come and testify.

         24                 Before we hear from the witnesses,

         25  however, I'm happy to yield the floor to my
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          2  colleague Hiram Monserrate, the sponsor of Reso 268.

          3                 Council member.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

          5  Mr. Chair.

          6                 Good morning to you, to the Committee

          7  members, and everyone attending today's hearing. I

          8  want to thank you, first and foremost, for

          9  prioritizing these mostly important issue here in

         10  the City of New York, and over the past few weeks,

         11  many of the leadership in this City, and activists

         12  representing diverse communities of color, have been

         13  actively working to raise awareness of the potential

         14  problems of implementing an unexplained technology

         15  to determine television ratings in the City of New

         16  York.

         17                 As Co-Chair of the Black Latino and

         18  Asian Caucus, I'm proud that our leadership has

         19  helped bring Nielsen Media Research to the table to

         20  work with our communities to determine how to ensure

         21  our representation.

         22                 In fact, just days before their

         23  announcement to delay the implementation and begin a

         24  period of dialogue, both myself and the co-chair of

         25  the Caucus, Helen Foster, met with Paul Donato,
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          2  Senior Vice President, and Chief Research Officer,

          3  and John A. Luftus, Senior VP of Communication, to

          4  express our deep concerns about the Local People

          5  Meters.

          6                 I am pleased the Nielsen has heard

          7  our grievances and has chosen to join us here today.

          8  However, because of the depth and breadth of this

          9  issue and its potential consequences to our

         10  communities, I must express the need for a process

         11  that is more than mere window dressing, or simply

         12  marking a later date on the calendar.

         13                 Specifically we are here today to

         14  discuss how to begin a process of research

         15  accountability and cooperation.

         16                 We look forward to gathering and

         17  reviewing accurate and representative data, creating

         18  a process of periodic auditing, to ensure future

         19  accountability and a disclosure of task force

         20  members to ensure an open and democratic process.

         21                 As we all know, Nielsen is a virtual

         22  monopoly with respect to view a measurement.  With

         23  this competitive advantage comes tremendous

         24  responsibility.

         25                 In the most diverse City in the
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          2  world, Nielsen Media Research must ensure

          3  communities of color and all consumers which they

          4  hold the public trust for.

          5                 These are first steps in the process

          6  to ensuring that Local People Meters when rolled out

          7  in New York fulfill that mandate. I thank the

          8  Committee for taking the time to investigate this

          9  important issue, and to ensure our communities that

         10  their opinions and voices will be heard.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You're welcome,

         13  Council Member. I appreciate your remarks and

         14  activism around it.

         15                 There has been, as I understand, some

         16  concern about who was speaking first, and I want to

         17  assure you that everybody is going to have ample

         18  time to speak, and I would encourage the first

         19  panel, which will be Nielsen, to stick around and

         20  hear from the advocates.

         21                 It's my understanding, as I listen to

         22  my colleague, and certainly it's always my hope as

         23  the Chair of Consumer Affairs, that we can work

         24  something out, so that everybody feels satisfied,

         25  and respected and most importantly, the consumers
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          2  come out of this the winners.

          3                 We will also be having a second

          4  hearing before we vote on this resolution, so I

          5  think it would be smart to listen to all sides of

          6  this.

          7                 With that, I have a list of witnesses

          8  here. Susan Whiting. Paul Donato. Juan Mendizabal.

          9  Did I get that half right?

         10                 Please, Sergeant, maybe we could get

         11  another seat, I think, or maybe we could pull that

         12  one up? Thank you.

         13                 The Counsel will swear you in.

         14                 MS. BROWN: Good morning. Do you swear

         15  or affirm that the testimony and answers you are

         16  about to provide are entirely truthful?

         17                 MR. DONATO: I do.

         18                 MS. WHITING: I do.

         19                 MR. MENDIZABAL: I do.

         20                 MS. BROWN: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Do you

         22  have an opening statement. When you push the light

         23  and it goes off, that means the microphone goes on.

         24                 MR. DONATO: Good morning, everyone.

         25  My name is Paul Donato, and I am Chief Research
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          2  Officer for Nielsen Media Research. I'd like to

          3  introduce Juan Mendizabal, who is our Senior Vice

          4  President of Field Operations, and Carmen Ayala, who

          5  is our panel representative from the New York -- one

          6  of our panel representatives from the New York

          7  market area.

          8                 Also joining us is Manana Freyre,

          9  Counsel for Nielsen since 1987, and also known to

         10  you as a member of the New York City Conflict of

         11  Interest Board.

         12                 As you know, Nielsen is installing

         13  People Meters in order to measure television in the

         14  New York market.

         15                 As you also may know, we have

         16  postponed the start of the measurement service in

         17  order to give us some time to speak to concerned

         18  parties, and work with the Independent Task Force

         19  being assembled by Congressman Rangel.

         20                 I'll spend a few minutes this morning

         21  explaining the differences between the current diary

         22  system and these people meters.

         23                 But I want to say from the start that

         24  both our national and New York People Meter samples

         25  currently over-represent and not under-represent
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          2  both African-American and Hispanic households.

          3                 African-American households are

          4  over-represented by approximately four percent in

          5  the New York panel, and Hispanic households are

          6  over-represented by approximately one percent.

          7                 I'll explain a little bit more about

          8  that in a few minutes.

          9                 This is a People Meter remote. This

         10  is really kind of the user interface for an

         11  electronic people meter. Juan's group installs a

         12  meter in every television in our sample household.

         13  They ask the respondents to indicate that they are

         14  watching television by pressing buttons on this

         15  remote control.

         16                 The meter automatically records what

         17  is tuned on the set down to the minute. The system

         18  has been in use since 1987 throughout the United

         19  States in a national ratings panel, and since 1992,

         20  in our National Hispanic and Los Angeles Hispanic

         21  People Meter Panel.

         22                 For the past 15 years, people meters

         23  have been used in virtually every major television

         24  economy around the world, including Europe, Asia and

         25  Latin America.
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          2                 Our meter panels, there is a sample

          3  of households that participate in the ratings are

          4  audited by Earnst and Young and are accredited by

          5  the Media Ratings Council.

          6                 The Council is made up of member

          7  clients, advertisers, agencies, network and cable.

          8  We have successfully completed an extensive internal

          9  audit in New York, and Ernst and Young has begun

         10  their external audit of New York.

         11                 Currently demographic audiences, for

         12  example, persons 18 to 49, the kind of targets that

         13  people buy on, are produced by diaries. This is an

         14  example of a diary. And I wonder if I can ask the

         15  Sergeant-At-Arms to distribute these.

         16                 Please look through these diaries.

         17  Diaries are often filled out at the end of a week

         18  and by a designated diary keeper. Diaries are still

         19  necessary because there are many small television

         20  markets that cannot afford to measure television

         21  electronically. However, diaries have several

         22  limitations, because they're based on memory,

         23  sometimes the awareness of a single diary keeper,

         24  regarding who watched what in the household, diaries

         25  frequently understate audiences to cable and niche
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          2  programs.

          3                 Diaries often overstate the audience

          4  to the large network programs and to programs that

          5  run five days a week. This is exactly what we see

          6  when we look at the current differences in the New

          7  York data.

          8                 People Meters report that minorities

          9  watch 50 percent more cable networks than they can

         10  recall in the diary.

         11                 Some prime time programs also run in

         12  syndication five days a week. These programs, like

         13  Enterprise, the Simpsons or the Parkers seem to show

         14  the biggest changes regardless of whether they

         15  contain minority talent or not. Whether they have

         16  large minority audiences or not.

         17                 Of note, the Parkers, which showed

         18  one of the biggest declines, is broadcast Monday

         19  through Saturday, 7:00 p.m. to 7:30 p.m., Monday

         20  through Saturday, 7:30 p.m. to 8:00 p.m., that's 12

         21  times. Then in Prime Time Mondays at 8:00 p.m.

         22                 Diary keepers cannot keep track of

         23  which episodes they watch and when they watch them.

         24  I think it's worth probably breaking for a minute

         25  just to talk a little bit about the differences
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          2  between People Meters and diaries, and I'm going to

          3  ask Juan Mendizabal, who is our field group, to talk

          4  a little bit about the coaching and the training

          5  that we provide to our households to ensure that

          6  once a People Meter is installed, people actually

          7  press their buttons and log themselves in.

          8                 MR. MENDIZABAL: Thank you, Paul.

          9                 First of all, you all had a chance to

         10  take a quick look at the remote control, I'm just

         11  going to be two seconds on the functionality.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Just a minute. What

         13  is this?

         14                 MR. MENDIZABAL: That is the remote

         15  control for the People Meter, which is the primary

         16  function --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And what's this?

         18                 MR. MENDIZABAL: It's also a remote

         19  control. There are two different types of remotes,

         20  the same function, just slightly different look. One

         21  you see there are stickers, which is commonly used

         22  in homes with children.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You can only get

         24  one of these in your household?

         25                 MR. MENDIZABAL: No, one for every
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          2  television in the home.

          3                 So one remote control stays at each

          4  site.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You don't have to

          6  have two of these for each TV?

          7                 MR. MENDIZABAL: No.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: They do the same

          9  thing? There is a different design?

         10                 MR. MENDIZABAL: Correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         12                 MR. MENDIZABAL: In addition to having

         13  a People Meter on every television in the home, each

         14  family member is assigned to one of the buttons that

         15  you see there, and quite simply we ask them when the

         16  television is turned on to indicate if they're in

         17  the audience by pressing their button. It's a rather

         18  simple task, but we still take the coaching quite

         19  seriously.

         20                 All of our households receive an

         21  initial coach at the time that the home is

         22  installed. Homes with children and young adults

         23  receive a follow-up visit about four weeks later,

         24  simply to confirm that they're comfortable with how

         25  to use the People Meter and answer any questions

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  they may have. Then we have ongoing visits on a

          3  six-month basis. Every six months we return to the

          4  home, motivate them to continue to use the people

          5  meter, make sure they're using it properly. These

          6  are our planned visits.

          7                 In addition to the planned visits we

          8  also have unplanned, where we're monitoring how

          9  people are using the People Meter on a daily basis,

         10  and we apply edit and look for clues, that there may

         11  be any possible non-use of the People Meter and

         12  we'll follow-up with contacts to their home. And

         13  that's done by our membership representatives, which

         14  Carmen is one of our finest here in the New York

         15  area.

         16                 MR. DONATO: Thank you, Juan.

         17                 I refer your attention to the diaries

         18  that we passed out. Now, I first have to explain, we

         19  use diaries in over 200 markets around the country.

         20  There are some markets, about 40 markets that don't

         21  have --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do you want to just

         23  show us what you mean by -- you gave us an awful lot

         24  of stuff to look at here, and some of us are trying

         25  to make sure we know what you're talking about.
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          2                 MR. DONATO: This would have been what

          3  the Sergeant-at-Arms handed out.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. Thank you.

          5                 MR. DONATO: And it may also be cream

          6  colored.

          7                 Now, if you just look through the

          8  pages you can see that this is a one-week diary.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You're talking

         10  about this is the diary?

         11                 MR. DONATO: That is the diary.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: As opposed to this?

         13                 MR. DONATO: Correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         15                 MR. DONATO: The remote control goes

         16  with the People Meter that's electronic

         17  measurements, and the diary is simply mailed to a

         18  household and there's no electronic measurements in

         19  that same household.

         20                 The diary, as I was saying, is in use

         21  in over 200 markets. There are about 40 markets that

         22  have fewer than 100,000 households in them. It's

         23  important, because we have to continue to use the

         24  diary for some time, and as a company, we continue

         25  to do research to try to improve diaries. So I don't

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  want to come up and present an image where I am

          3  denigrating how diaries work. However, what many

          4  people feel is that diaries are not up to the task

          5  of measuring television in high cable environments,

          6  with PVRs and time shifting. It will become

          7  impossible for people to remember what they watched

          8  and when they watched it.

          9                 One of the problems that occurs with

         10  diaries is that nobody says they watched part of a

         11  program in the diary. As you can see, when you look

         12  at those lines, they're oriented around 15 minutes

         13  and we call them quarter hours. So, a typical

         14  program is a half hour or an hour. When people fill

         15  out diaries inevitably, they fill out two quarter

         16  hours, as if they watched all 30 minutes.

         17                 Now, you know when you're watching

         18  television, if you're watching something for 30

         19  minutes, sometimes you watch the whole 30 minutes,

         20  but lots of times you tune out in the middle, you

         21  tune away for five minutes, ten minutes, a People

         22  Meter records that.

         23                 We are doing a lot of work in

         24  understanding the differences, and I can tell you

         25  that approximately 20 percent of the differences in
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          2  some of those core programs that we're read about in

          3  the papers, 20 percent of the differences come from

          4  the fact that when you look at a meter, it says that

          5  people didn't watch the whole program, they watched

          6  22 minutes of the 30 minute program, but when you

          7  look at the diary, it says virtually everybody

          8  watched all 30 minutes of the program, and that's 20

          9  percent right there.

         10                 There are other limitations, other

         11  challenges of the diary. One of these really has to

         12  do with sort of the long block of time that people

         13  fill out.

         14                 I mentioned the Parkers because that

         15  characterizes something unique about television. The

         16  Parkers runs 12 times a week outside of its prime

         17  time slot. The Parkers runs an hour right before its

         18  prime time slot. Some of the other programs that

         19  have experienced large drops have nothing to do with

         20  minority viewership or minority talent, or similar

         21  programs where they run in syndication from seven to

         22  eight and they go into prime time, and at the end of

         23  the week people are confused. People aren't sure

         24  when they watched it, and they tend to write in long

         25  blocks of time for this viewership, and that
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          2  accounts for another third of the differences that

          3  we are seeing.

          4                 So, one of the most significant

          5  limits, one of the most significant explanations to

          6  the differences that we're seeing really is how the

          7  diary works, versus how the People Meter works.

          8                 It is not true that only

          9  minority-oriented or Hispanic-oriented viewership

         10  has declined.

         11                 There have been other declines in

         12  similar programs that are oriented much more towards

         13  the total population.

         14                 Returning, I think it's probably

         15  worth finishing up on an important note, and that is

         16  that People Meters will have little or no impact on

         17  network programming decisions. Many people are

         18  concerned that these numbers will somehow or another

         19  result in the cancellation of a program. For the

         20  past 16 years, network heads have looked to the

         21  national People Meter sample, to make decisions, not

         22  the local data, the People Meter sample, to make

         23  decisions about what programs to develop and what

         24  programs to renew.

         25                 As I said, our national, our New York
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          2  People Meter sample currently over-represent, not

          3  under-represent, both African-American and Hispanic

          4  house holds.

          5                 We achieved this representation over

          6  the last few years by working closely with the

          7  communities, by raising cash incentives that we pay

          8  minority households, we call them differential

          9  incentives, by producing special recruitment

         10  materials, by special training programs, special HR

         11  programs, to recruit from within the community. And

         12  the irony of it is, to be perfectly frank, is over

         13  the last two years our client community has, I think

         14  really applauded the work that we have done in terms

         15  of representation, doing a much better job of

         16  representation of minorities within all of our

         17  panel.

         18                 I said that our national People Meter

         19  sample was audited every year. In our last

         20  accreditation process we received unanimous

         21  accreditation from all of our clients. In part, and

         22  if you speak to them, I say in part because of the

         23  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Excuse me. You say

         25  accreditation. Who accredits you?
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          2                 MR. DONATO: We are accredited by an

          3  organization called the Media Ratings Council.

          4  That's a Council made up of all of our clients, and

          5  the Council basically organizes our audits.

          6                 All of our samples, all of our

          7  products are audited, and so we pay for the audits

          8  by the Council actually hires Ernst and Young to

          9  conduct the audits.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Is there anybody

         11  that's, shall we say neutral in this, that's not a

         12  client that's involved with this? You used the word

         13  "accreditation," that's a pretty powerful word.

         14                 MR. DONATO: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, I'm trying to

         16  understand who is giving you this seal of approval.

         17                 MR. DONATO: I would say the neutral

         18  body is the Executive Director who is not employed

         19  by any of the clients --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The Executive

         21  Director of --

         22                 MR. DONATO: Of the Media Ratings

         23  Council. There is an independent full-time position,

         24  there's a couple of staffers.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Is there any
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          2  outside consumer groups that have nothing to do and

          3  no stake in this?

          4                 MR. DONATO: I'm going to say

          5  advertisers, but there's no participation by

          6  consumer or advocacy groups.

          7                 I believe, I don't know the history

          8  perfectly, but I believe that this Council was set

          9  up many years ago at the request -- this is probably

         10  about 20 years ago, at the request of congressional

         11  investigations into media research, and so it was

         12  their action that created the Council. And the

         13  Council basically audits all media research

         14  companies. You know, television, but just like

         15  television, there's also magazine research

         16  companies, and anybody who produces currency is

         17  audited by and accredited, or not accredited. If you

         18  fail and you don't get accreditation.

         19                 Okay, we look forward to cooperating

         20  with the independent task force that has been set up

         21  by Congressman Rengal, and we look forward to an

         22  ongoing dialogue with you. We think an ongoing

         23  dialogue with you will really help us to do a better

         24  job of making sure that all persons are properly

         25  represented within the television community.
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          2                 And with that, I thank you for your

          3  time and attention.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          5                 Is there any testimony here, or are

          6  you just here to --

          7                 MR. DONATO: Here to answer questions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          9                 Who, if anyone, who is Nielsen's

         10  largest competitor?

         11                 MR. DONATO: Right now in the United

         12  States, I don't know the status. There is only one

         13  other competitor, who is producing television

         14  audience ratings in the United States. There was a

         15  company by the name of Ad Com, I don't know the

         16  status of the company, if they've been in existence

         17  for many years. They may or may not still be in

         18  existence.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It's probably not

         20  unrealistic to say that Nielsen has a monopoly as it

         21  relates to --

         22                 MR. DONATO: We are very often --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:-- We are

         24  researching television viewing of America.

         25                 MR. DONATO: We are very often
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          2  referred to as a single supplier, that's correct.

          3  However, there's a footnote to that; and that is,

          4  television currency is really a natural monopoly in

          5  a sense, in that currency is something that has to

          6  be agreed upon between buyer and seller, and nowhere

          7  in the world, and I've worked probably in about 20

          8  different rating services around the world, there

          9  are almost no countries in which there are multiple

         10  television rating services.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: There are almost

         12  what? I'm having a hard time hearing you, but it's

         13  probably me and the fan.

         14                 MR. DONATO: I'm sorry.

         15                 There are almost no countries in

         16  which there are multiple television rating services

         17  in the world, and that is because the function of a

         18  rating service is to produce a currency which really

         19  provides a common buying and selling value for that

         20  advertising.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And Nielsen's

         22  primary clients are?

         23                 MR. DONATO: Primary clients are

         24  advertisers, advertising agencies, cable network,

         25  and broadcast networks and television stations.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And what is your

          3  annual revenue?

          4                 MR. DONATO: That is not published.

          5  It's approximately between five- and six-hundred

          6  million dollars.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Between three and

          8  --

          9                 MR. DONATO: Between five- and

         10  six-hundred million.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Between three- and

         12  six-hundred million dollars a year is the revenue

         13  for Nielsen?

         14                 MR. DONATO: Between five- and

         15  six-hundred million.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Between five- and

         17  six-hundred million dollars in revenue.

         18                 MR. DONATO: That's right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And how many people

         20  work for the company?

         21                 MR. DONATO: There are approximately

         22  3,000 full-time employees, there are additional

         23  part-time employees. Field is probably the most

         24  important. I would say that Carmen probably has the

         25  hardest job in the company. There is approximately
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          2  1,000 field employees. Maybe I'll hand it over.

          3                 MR. MENDIZABAL: Yes. Actually, about

          4  half of the company, about 1,500 full-time employees

          5  that are out in the field working in our samples

          6  across the country.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The headquarters is

          8  in where?

          9                 MR. MENDIZABAL: Our operations

         10  headquarters are located in Florida, but all of our

         11  staff, our field staff, works in the City obviously

         12  in which they helped to produce the rating service.

         13                 MR. DONATO: The company headquarters

         14  is in New York.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The corporate

         16  headquarters are here in New York.

         17                 MR. DONATO: City.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And the operational

         19  headquarters is in Florida; is that what you said?

         20                 MR. MENDIZABAL: That's correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And then you have

         22  field offices around the country.

         23                 MR. DONATO: That's correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: What percentage of

         25  the people that work in the corporate office are
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          2  people of color?

          3                 MR. DONATO: I'm sorry, I don't have

          4  that number.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do you want to take

          6  a guess?

          7                 MR. DONATO: I probably shouldn't

          8  guess. I know that as a company we are very much

          9  diversified. I know that I think Juan can correct me

         10  if I'm wrong, we are approximately 20 to 25 percent

         11  Hispanic, 20 percent African-American --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In the corporate

         13  world?

         14                 MR. DONATO: No, in the operations

         15  world. In the corporate world I don't have the

         16  numbers. I apologize.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, that will

         18  certainly be a question that we'd like to get an

         19  answer to at the next hearing.

         20                 So, you have about 1,500 people in

         21  the field, and each one of these field offices has a

         22  supervisor?

         23                 MR. DONATO: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Something like

         25  that, somebody that oversees the operation?
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          2                 MR. DONATO: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Who is in charge

          4  with them?

          5                 MR. MENDIZABAL: Ultimately they roll

          6  up into my organization.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And your title

          8  again is what, sir?

          9                 MR. MENDIZABAL: Senior Vice President

         10  for Field Operations.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: What does field

         12  operations mean?

         13                 MR. MENDIZABAL: Field Operations is

         14  basically the implementers of all the different

         15  panels that we have. So, it includes primarily two

         16  positions, what we call our membership reps, who are

         17  responsible for recruiting households to become part

         18  of the Nielsen families, and we have our field

         19  representatives which are more the technical aspect

         20  of installing the Nielsen equipment, which includes

         21  the People Meter.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That's pretty

         23  straightforward? There's nothing else involved.

         24                 MR. MENDIZABAL: It's quite a complex

         25  operation, but we obviously take great pride in what
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          2  we do, a great deal of training that has to take

          3  place initially in order to conduct the research and

          4  then ongoing training and development as well.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, that's the only

          6  business the Nielsen is in?

          7                 MR. MENDIZABAL: I'm talking about the

          8  metered side of the business where we operate in 56

          9  local markets. We have a National People Meter

         10  sample that Paul spoke of, we have local Hispanic

         11  samples, as well as national Hispanic sample. All of

         12  those panels are measured on an overnight basis with

         13  the meters that we talk about. The remainder of our

         14  panels, which are significant are the diary samples,

         15  and Paul may want to talk about the numbers of

         16  market there.

         17                 MR. DONATO: We currently are using

         18  diaries in 200 markets around the country, over 200

         19  markets, diary is basically done through the mail.

         20  We place the diary through a telephone call.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: These are diaries?

         22                 MR. DONATO: That's correct. Those are

         23  diaries. If you're in our diary sample we would

         24  contact you initially by telephone, we would mail

         25  brochures to the house to indicate what this is all
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          2  about.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I guess the broader

          4  question perhaps should have been directed to you.

          5  The business that Nielsen is exclusively in is in

          6  this monitoring and critiquing who is watching what

          7  on TV; is that the only business that Nielsen is in?

          8  That and Nielsen Media Research, that's the only

          9  business that we are in domestically.

         10                 MR. DONATO: Outside of the United

         11  States, we have other businesses all related to

         12  Media Research. For example, we may do rating score

         13  magazines in other countries.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So then the field

         15  business in working with households, this is the

         16  only reason that you'd be engaging with them, is if

         17  you're not selling them any products.

         18                 MR. DONATO: Absolutely not.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You're offering

         20  them an incentive.

         21                 MR. DONATO: Correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes?

         23                 MR. MENDIZABAL: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: But it's strictly

         25  related to this business?
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          2                 MR. DONATO: That's correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Now, I'm sure I

          4  know some of my colleagues have questions, but I

          5  still don't quite understand the reason that the

          6  corporation chose to switch over to these LPMs, if

          7  we can refer to them that way.

          8                 MR. DONATO: Sure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In plain English,

         10  why did you decide to use these, as opposed to, I

         11  guess it's the diaries?

         12                 MR. DONATO: Right. I would say that

         13  for the last 15 years television researchers around

         14  the world believe that People Meter is a more

         15  accurate measurement tool. We frequently come under

         16  criticism from the buying community from advertisers

         17  and from agencies for continued use of diaries, for

         18  many, many reasons. Number one, they don't think

         19  that diaries are accurate. They know that people

         20  tend to fill in favorite programs rather than what

         21  they really watched. In fact, if you go through

         22  diaries and you read them, and you see people

         23  talking, providing qualitative information, using

         24  the words favorite, as they describe their

         25  programming.
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          2                 There are other significant reasons

          3  why we should be turning over to People Meters.

          4  Number one, advertisers want to use better computer

          5  systems, for example, to take a look at what money

          6  they're spending nationally and what money they're

          7  spending here in New York City and other local

          8  markets, and you really need the measurement system

          9  to be the same, in order to be able to do that. And,

         10  so, if we don't eventually switch from diaries to

         11  People Meters, what will eventually happen is New

         12  York will not be part of that national local

         13  allocation of dollars, and New York will suffer,

         14  we'll have fewer ad dollars coming into New York as

         15  a consequence.

         16                 There are many other reasons. We

         17  currently maintain two samples nationally, a

         18  national Hispanic television index, which is purely

         19  for measuring Hispanic households, and the national

         20  People Meter sample, which is for the general

         21  population.

         22                 We have for two years made

         23  commitments to bring those samples together. So that

         24  there's only one sample, one television rating

         25  service basically, and we get very much support on
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          2  the part of many in the community for that, because

          3  television is television and we need to be able to

          4  introduce these efficient databases where everybody

          5  is measured together.

          6                 There are numerous other business

          7  reasons why it is important. As I said, the first

          8  People Meter sample that we installed here was the

          9  national People Meter sample in 1987, it's been in

         10  use since 1987, there's an ongoing research and

         11  development program since 1987, in terms of how do

         12  the meters work with various ethnic populations,

         13  with minorities, with age, sex, you know, how the

         14  different groups use People Meters. So, it's not a

         15  new system and really what we're doing is catching

         16  up the local markets to the way the national system

         17  has been measured. And the reason why diaries were

         18  okay 15 years ago, is in a simple media environment

         19  where there or four networks get 50, 60, 70 percent

         20  of the viewing, people have an easier time

         21  remembering when there's only three choices to

         22  remember from.

         23                 The problem is, and the reason why

         24  when you switch from diaries to People Meters, you

         25  see all the cable numbers going up, so people go
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          2  over to the Weather Channel for five minutes, it

          3  never gets recorded in the diary.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Is there a market

          5  where you have complete use of the Local People

          6  Meters and you've gotten rid of the diaries?

          7                 MR. DONATO: Right now Boston it's

          8  been in place for two years. Boston has been

          9  accredited for two years in a row now and Boston is

         10  running smoothly.

         11                 When we entered Boston, some numbers

         12  changed. There was the issue of does this

         13  differentially affect by race or by ethnicity to not

         14  come up, Boston is not a highly ethnic market. What

         15  did come up was the fact that news numbers dropped

         16  in Boston. Remember I said that programming that

         17  runs five days a week --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The news numbers

         19  you said?

         20                 MR. DONATO: News numbers. Yes,

         21  anything that runs five days a week. Local news

         22  tends to get overstated in the diary. But we work

         23  through that with our clients and Boston has been

         24  running very effectively now for two years.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I have several
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          2  other questions but I wanted to allow my colleagues

          3  an opportunity to ask some, and I know that

          4  Councilman Barron has some questions, and then

          5  Council Member Monserrate does.

          6                 Council Member Barron.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair. You know, racism permeates just every

          9  institution in America and it's still a drag that

         10  we're here now again talking to -- and by God, you

         11  make a lot of money, $500 million. I'm in the wrong

         12  business.

         13                 But, you know, what's alarming to me

         14  about this is that the demographic changes in New

         15  York City, the ethnic demographic changes show a

         16  dramatic increase of people of color, almost like 65

         17  percent of New York City. A decrease in the white

         18  population, but then when we hear from the testing

         19  in 2004, ratings with this new system, all of a

         20  sudden, virtually all of the top rated

         21  African-American programs, Spanish-speaking

         22  programs, show a decline. And Friends, and Will and

         23  Grace and some of these other programs show an

         24  increase when you look at predominantly white

         25  audience. And I'm 53 years old and I must say that
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          2  in my life I've never heard anyone that has ever

          3  been monitored, diary, People Meter by Nielsen, and

          4  I know a lot of people, and I know it's not a

          5  scientific study, but I thought I would maybe in 53

          6  years run into at least one person that has been

          7  television viewing. So, how do you account for this

          8  drastic, your change in methodology in this drastic

          9  decline in our viewership?

         10                 MR. DONATO: First I want to restate

         11  something. It is a scientific methodology. What Juan

         12  and Carmen do is social science. It is a science of

         13  going out and recruiting people so that we can have

         14  the most representative samples which are out there.

         15                 And right now the fact that we're

         16  over-representing African-American households, is an

         17  indication that our response rates, our recruitment

         18  rates are actually --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: What do you

         20  mean over-representing African-American --

         21                 MR. DONATO: There's about four

         22  percent more African American households in the New

         23  York sample than the census would indicate live in

         24   -- it's not technically New York City, it's the 28

         25  counties around, including New York City, around New
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          2  York City.

          3                 So, we have more African Americans in

          4  the sample than actually the population would

          5  dictate.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: When would

          7  that percentage be?

          8                 MR. DONATO: It's about four points

          9  more.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: What would the

         11  total percentage of African --

         12                 MR. DONATO: It's 17 percent of the

         13  households.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Seventeen

         15  percent of African-American households.

         16                 MR. DONATO: Seventeen percent of

         17  households in the market are African-American.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Seven?

         19                 MR. DONATO: Seventeen.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Seventeen

         21  percent in the market, even though we are almost 30

         22  percent --

         23                 MR. DONATO: New York City is much

         24  greater.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So, what is it
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          2  in New York City?

          3                 MR. DONATO: I'm sorry, I don't know

          4  New York City's number, but it's much more

          5  significant.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Is the

          7  overcount nationwide, or just in New York City?

          8                 MR. DONATO: New York City and the New

          9  York market have --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So, it's just

         11  New York?

         12                 MR. DONATO: Have a higher

         13  concentration of African-Americans in the country in

         14  general.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So, I'm saying

         16  that the overcount, is it just in New York, or is it

         17  nationwide?

         18                 MR. DONATO: We're slightly over

         19  nationally. We're also over in New York City.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So, how do you

         21  explain for the drastic decline?

         22                 MR. DONATO: The African-American

         23  viewers. And the audiences to those programs are not

         24  just African-American. In fact, that's one of the

         25  major differences between the People Meter system
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          2  and the diary system. The People Meter system shows

          3  more older viewers to those programs that you're

          4  reading about in the news. The diary shows more

          5  viewing among 18 to 49, but we've never seen, we've

          6  never published the 50 plus numbers, so people

          7  aren't really aware of that.

          8                 Importantly, there is a logic to

          9  that, and that is the 18 to 49 year-old viewers are

         10  watching other things when measured by People

         11  Meters. They're more likely to be watching cable.

         12  They're more likely to be watching more niche

         13  programing. And there's a very important point that

         14  I didn't include in my prepared context. But there

         15  was an interview about five weeks ago in Television

         16  Week Magazine, where the President of UPN, the

         17  Parkers Network, the network that has written many

         18  of these programs, are produced by.

         19                 She said that she felt that

         20  approximately one-third of her audience is

         21  African-American, and there was a discussion about

         22  marketing African-Americans as part of an overall

         23  population advertising by one-third. The People

         24  Meter system in New York says that approximately

         25  half of the people 18 to 34 are African-Americans.

                                                            41

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  And that would make sense because New York has a

          3  higher concentration of African-Americans. The diary

          4  service says that over 80 percent of the audience to

          5  the Parkers, for example, is African-American, and

          6  that's not true, and I don't think that's good,

          7  that's not good for programming. It's sort of an

          8  artificial representation that the total audience

          9  for that program is African-American.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Let me ask you

         11  this, because I'll be honest with you, I just don't

         12  trust all of that and I think that we need some kind

         13  of monitoring. How do we know what you're saying is

         14  accurate. We went through the same thing with the

         15  Census Bureau. They said we were overcounted. We

         16  challenged the sampling procedure. We said we were

         17  undercounted. They said, no, you're overcounted.

         18                 MR. DONATO: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And they came

         20  back and we found out in fact we were indeed

         21  under-counted all over.

         22                 Did you do any research, any study,

         23  any analysis prior to you putting these local meters

         24  in place in February? Was there any study as to what

         25  impact it would have on large cities like New York

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  and its diverse urban population?

          3                 MR. DONATO: We've been operating

          4  People Meter panels within Hispanic Households

          5  nationally since 1992. We have operated a People

          6  Meter panel in Los Angeles, since 1992, Los Angeles

          7  only, and that is a Hispanic only panel. So, we have

          8  a long track record of operating these panels. Each

          9  of these panels has been audited in great detail.

         10  All of our panel -- we have an annual R&D program

         11  that we conduct, and like anybody who is into total

         12  quality management, the objective is every year for

         13  things, you want to improve things.

         14                 Our research program itself is

         15  monitored. Last year we completed --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You're saying

         17  through panel, this Latino panel, is that what you

         18  did prior to the local meters?

         19                 MR. DONATO: That is an example.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's not

         21  what I'm talking about. I'm talking about a serious,

         22  well-funded thorough analysis, impact study, on how

         23  these meters with impact, diverse, ethnic urban

         24  populations like New York City, not a Latino panel.

         25  Was there any real --
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          2                 MR. DONATO: I would suggest that as

          3  part of our regular operations we have ongoing

          4  tracking mechanisms that look to monitor the

          5  performance of the systems among African-American

          6  households, among Hispanic households, and among all

          7  households.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'm saying

          9  prior to you putting the local meters in February --

         10                 MR. DONATO: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Did you do a

         12  serious analytical impact study? Not two panels who

         13  were monitoring, a serious, thorough study to see

         14  what the impact might be prior to February.

         15                 MR. DONATO: We've had People Meters

         16  in New York since 1987, because New York represents

         17  a large part of national sample.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You had the

         19  People Meter since 1987?

         20                 MR. DONATO: In New York, but they

         21  were contributing data to the national systems,.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Was it the

         23  local data or national data?

         24                 MR. DONATO: It was contributing to

         25  the national system, not the local system.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Right. But I'm

          3  talking about the local data.

          4                 MR. DONATO: No, but the people meters

          5  in New York provide us with the real --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, but I'm

          7  saying prior. You're obviously not going to answer

          8  that question.

          9                 Let me move on to another question,

         10  because I'll just take that as there's no real --

         11                 MS. AYALA: (Not identified for the

         12  record.) Councilman Barron, before you continue, I

         13  just want to interject for just a second.

         14                 Since 2000 I have been here, and I've

         15  worked pretty much in New York City in the metro

         16  area, and I want to assure you and the rest of the

         17  panel of one thing, and that is, many of the

         18  neighborhoods that you represent in your own

         19  district we go into. Myself personally. Whether

         20  it's, let's say Brooklyn, for example, homes in East

         21  New York, as a matter of fact, homes --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You never

         23  stopped by my house, or anybody I know, but go

         24  ahead.

         25                 MS. AYALA: You and I know a mutual
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          2  person --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I know you a

          4  long time, I never saw you in the neighborhood.

          5                 MS. AYALA: Guess what? We do have a

          6  mutual person.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And they

          8  always bring the person of color out for the

          9  hearings.

         10                 MS. AYALA: I've been here since 2000,

         11  and --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I understand

         13  that, but I'm saying it's interesting that you're

         14  one-third of the panel that I guarantee you we're

         15  not one-third of the power structure in the Nielsen

         16  organization, but go ahead.

         17                 MS. AYALA: Well, in terms of power

         18  that's a different thing.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Because I know

         20  they brought you here so you could tell them you

         21  went to East New York --

         22                 MS. AYALA: No, that's not true.

         23  Before the local, I actually worked on the national

         24  sample, and I just came over to the local sample in

         25  August.
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          2                 One of the things that I'm extremely

          3  proud of, and the membership representatives that I

          4  represent as well, what we do on a day-to-day basis

          5  is in fact go into neighborhoods and try to make

          6  sure that we are making an impact and that people

          7  are being included in the sample.

          8                 And one of the difficulties that we

          9  truly face in terms of bridging the gap, is the

         10  knowledge, making sure that people understand

         11  Nielsen and what it is before we can get to the

         12  point of including, you know, in terms of having

         13  them to agree to be a part of the sample.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Just one last

         15  question, because I have to wrap it up. But, you

         16  know, that's not the problem.

         17                 This is a very simple process. Just

         18  us having knowledge and you haven't accessed our

         19  home was a problem, we wouldn't be here today.

         20                 It's a larger issue of institutional

         21  racism that is usually something that is denied most

         22  of the time, and we come up with -- we

         23  over-represent you and, in fact, we are being

         24  under-represented, and I think that's what we are

         25  trying to get at here.
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          2                 Let me just ask my last question,

          3  rather than take a lot of time on that.

          4                 Isn't it true that in 2000 Nielsen

          5  was forced to publicly admit that they undercounted

          6  300,000 Latino viewers?

          7                 MR. DONATO: I read it in the paper. I

          8  have no knowledge of the circumstances.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You have no

         10  knowledge of that?

         11                 MR. DONATO: I have read it in the

         12  paper and that is it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Have you had

         14  any history of undercounting blacks or Latinos, or

         15  are you always over-counting us like you're saying

         16  now?

         17                 MR. DONATO: No. And our goal is not

         18  to overcount. Our goal is to really get it right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Any history of

         20  undercounting?

         21                 MR. DONATO: I think probably several

         22  years ago we had --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Probably

         24  several years ago?

         25                 MR. DONATO: I have to apologize, I've
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          2  been with the company for three years.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Is that a yes

          4  or no?"probably several years ago," I don't know

          5  what to do with that.

          6                 MR. DONATO: What I can tell you is

          7  that three years ago we put into place special

          8  procedures to improve our recruitment rate.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: But that's not

         10  my question. My chair wants to move on.

         11                 Have you had a history, is there any

         12  history of undercounting blacks or Latinos in New

         13  York City or anywhere else in the nation? Have you

         14  had any history of that at all?

         15                 MR. DONATO: Not that I know of.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You've always

         17  counted us accurately? You don't even know why

         18  you're here. Just basically always counted us

         19  accurately, why are we going through this motion? So

         20  there's no history of discrimination, no history of

         21  discrimination in counting? You've been either

         22  over-counting us or accurately counting us; is that

         23  your testimony here today? Is that basically your

         24  testimony? I just want to get a direct answer to see

         25  if we have a problem here or not.
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          2                 MR. DONATO: I'm afraid I can't give

          3  you a direct answer.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: All right,

          5  thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Council

          7  Member Barron.

          8                 We've been joined by another member

          9  of the Committee, Council Member James Sanders, Jr.,

         10  from Queens. And I'm told that another Council

         11  Member John Liu was here and I'm sure he will be

         12  back.

         13                 Before Council Member Monserrate

         14  asked questions, it seems that the issue of Nielsen

         15  being, as it says, "forced to publicly admit

         16  undercounting," has been widely reported in a lot of

         17  media outlets here in New York, particularly since

         18  the initial dust-up.

         19                 I came to this hearing very neutral

         20  about the whole issue, I hadn't really examined the

         21  issue and I still am. But if what my colleagues and

         22  others are telling me is accurate, that virtually

         23  every story about this issue or this concern

         24  mentions the fact that in 2000 Nielsen was slapped

         25  on the wrist and acknowledged an undercounting, I'm
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          2  finding it a little bit hard to believe that the

          3  three of you, and the other person who seems to be

          4  weighing in periodically, has no recollection or

          5  doesn't know what we're talking about. Is that

          6  possible?

          7                 MR. DONATO: It's possible in my case

          8  because I wasn't here. We have clearly discussed --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Let me ask the

         10  question again to everybody on that panel. Is it

         11  true that Nielsen in 2000 was forced to publicly

         12  admit undercounting of Hispanic viewers in the New

         13  York area?

         14                 Now, anybody here from Nielsen can

         15  answer that question yes or no.

         16                 You don't know, so you can stay out

         17  of this.

         18                 Is there anybody here representing

         19  Nielsen today that can answer that question?

         20                 Let me ask you this: Is there anybody

         21  on that panel that's ever heard that fact before,

         22  heard that statement before?

         23                 MR. MENDIZABAL: Until it came out

         24  recently, I was not aware of that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: But you heard it
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          2  before today, right?

          3                 MR. MENDIZABAL: I've heard it, yes,

          4  over the past couple of weeks.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Ma'am, why don't

          6  you have a seat up there at the table?

          7                 MR. FREYRE: I think that's a very

          8  good idea.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         10                 MS. FREYRE: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And unfortunately,

         12  since you weren't there initially, Deborah, would

         13  you swear her in, please.

         14                 MS. BROWN: Do you swear or affirm

         15  that the testimony and answers you are about to

         16  provide are entirely truthful?

         17                 MS. FREYRE: I do.

         18                 MS. BROWN: Thank you.

         19                 MS. FREYRE: Mr. Chairman, I'm Manana

         20  Freyre.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Please identify

         22  yourself for the record.

         23                 MS. FREYRE: I am outside counsel to

         24  Nielsen Media Research. I've been working with them

         25  since 1987. I do primarily corporate and commercial
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          2  matters for Nielsen.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And your name is?

          4                 MS. FREYRE: Manana Freyre. I'm a

          5  Hispanic. I'm not prodded out for these hearings

          6  simply because I am Hispanic, I am outside counsel

          7  to the company.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do you need me to

          9  ask the question again?

         10                 MS. FREYRE: Please.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Are you aware of

         12  what has been obviously, it seems, let's say that

         13  has been reported in the media that Nielsen in 2000

         14  was forced to acknowledge that had been

         15  undercounting the Hispanic population.

         16                 MS. FREYRE: I am aware that that has

         17  been reported. And that report, as far as I'm

         18  concerned, and members of senior management are

         19  concerned, is unsubstantiated. As are a number of

         20  the quote/unquote facts that had been put in the

         21  press.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Has Nielsen made a

         23  public statement about that being unsubstantiated?

         24                 MS. FREYRE: Yes, I believe they have.

         25  I believe that they have.
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          2                 MR. DONATO: Mr. Chairman, I would

          3  like to add, this runs so contrary to what we

          4  believe our relationship and our initiative is with

          5  respect to recruiting and reporting on the Hispanic

          6  community.

          7                 Six months ago we ran a half a

          8  million dollar ad campaign in Chicago to try to

          9  raise our awareness among Hispanics in Chicago to

         10  see whether this is a technique that we might be

         11  able to use in other markets.

         12                 We spend an inordinate amount of our

         13  time, I would say working with our clients, in terms

         14  of time to introduce procedures to ensure that we

         15  properly represent all minorities. We spend a

         16  tremendous amount of money, I can't quantify it for

         17  you today, but a tremendous amount of money doing

         18  pure research and development trying to reach the

         19  best method to account for whether we have the

         20  proper representation of language within our panel.

         21  And I know we're not going to be able to prove it

         22  here today, but I do know that over time we will be

         23  able to demonstrate to you and to your fellow

         24  Council members that Nielsen is in the best shape it

         25  has ever been with respect to representing
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          2  minorities within television ratings, and has

          3  certainly committed to making sure we get it right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I appreciate that,

          5  and we want to move forward the hearings. I know the

          6  advocates want to speak and we want to wrap up this

          7  part, your part of today's hearing. We're going to

          8  continue to look at this issue. But I'm finding it a

          9  little hard to believe that a major corporation like

         10  your own would have allowed what seemed to be a sort

         11  of repetitiveness of reporting on something that

         12  would reflect poorly on your company to go

         13  unresponded to, or at the very least what you're

         14  saying is you're not sure.

         15                 I'm having a hard time. I know they

         16  say things terribly about Council Member Barron all

         17  the time, and I come to his defense, I can tell you

         18  when -- that's a joke -- but most people don't let

         19  misstatements hang out there for very long and get

         20  repeated, and so it would be useful to me, if you

         21  could show me and this committee where it is that

         22  you have refuted this statement. It doesn't make

         23  sense that you've let it hung out there, because

         24  right now it's being taken as fact. But I know

         25  Council Member Monserrate has several questions, and
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          2  I want to get my other panel up before 11:30.

          3                 MR. DONATO: Would I have permission

          4  to respond briefly to that?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes.

          6                 MR. DONATO: We have had a lot thrown

          7  at us in the last couple of weeks.

          8                 We have expressed a very significant

          9  concern that that could have an impact on people's

         10  perception of Nielsen. Of all of the things that

         11  have been thrown at us, all of them incorrectly, we

         12  have responded, we have responded, with print ads,

         13  to those things we felt were the most damaging.

         14                 Perhaps we shouldn't have ignored

         15  this, but no one knows what it is about. There is no

         16  record of it, no one has seen the article, and so

         17  it's impossible for us to respond to something that

         18  we knew nothing about.

         19                 We did respond in print. We did

         20  respond in very many public venues to all of the

         21  client community, and we have responded, so in other

         22  words, you don't know the original outlet of that

         23  statement.

         24                 MR. DONATO: We can't even find the

         25  copy of the ad.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Monserrate.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

          5  Mr. Chair. And I think the purpose of this hearing

          6  clearly was evident as we listen to the questions

          7  and answers.

          8                 Let me first and foremost state that

          9  clearly the fact that Nielsen in essence operates as

         10  a monopoly should be of a concern from the get-go.

         11  But I have some specific questions as to Nielsen's

         12  decision to attempt to roll out these new People

         13  Meters here in the City of New York. As I

         14  understand, and please correct me if I'm incorrect,

         15  but as I understand, a similar program was to be

         16  rolled out in LA and Chicago, was it not?

         17                 MR. DONATO: Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And as I

         19  understand it faced quite a bit of opposition in LA

         20  and Chicago, did it not?

         21                 MR. DONATO: I wouldn't characterize

         22  it as facing opposition. We chose to delay LA and

         23  Chicago because the demographic representation of

         24  the sample is nowhere near what the representation

         25  of New York was.
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          2                 When we delayed LA and Chicago, we

          3  had set goals. This is obviously a very, I mean,

          4  you've got to be very, very good when you open up

          5  the new market because numbers change and people are

          6  sensitive to that. We set very conservative goals

          7  for their representation of the sample in all of

          8  these markets. We met those goals in New York. We

          9  did not meet those goals in Los Angeles and Chicago,

         10  and that was the reason for delaying those two

         11  markets.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay, just

         13  to inform you that I have heard different answers to

         14  that question, and that there was, in fact, some

         15  opposition primarily from communities of color in

         16  both Los Angeles and Chicago regarding this issue.

         17  And it just seemed peculiar to me how Nielsen would

         18  attempt to radically change their system of counting

         19  of viewership without having substantive issues like

         20  those addressed and communication.

         21                 Let me just first and foremost say

         22  that what I'm hearing about these diaries, they're

         23  basically ineffective, from what your testimony is.

         24                 MR. DONATO: They're growingly more

         25  challenged.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: More

          3  challenged, which on another note would actually, I

          4  don't know why anyone would pay for those ratings if

          5  they're so flawed.

          6                 But let me go on and say following

          7  that given the size of the discrepancies we talked

          8  about before, and Council Member Barron outlined the

          9  discrepancies in the differentiating of counting

         10  between the new system and the older system in the

         11  February 2004 ratings period. Seeing that, what did

         12  Nielsen do to analyze that? Was there any analytical

         13  process?

         14                 MR. DONATO: In all markets, as we

         15  start seeing ratings for the first time, we had a

         16  very specific analytical process where we go in and

         17  we compare, for example, because households are not

         18  turning the set on, is it because different

         19  demographics. We go and we look and see where their

         20  viewing went, if the viewing has dropped. We did

         21  that in Los Angeles, we did that in New York, we're

         22  doing that in Chicago. We've provided our clients

         23  with a lot of that information and, you know, we had

         24  said that we're going to be providing an industry,

         25  the industry with a white paper in the upcoming days
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          2  in order to be able to give our perspectives as to

          3  the reasons for the changes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Let me say

          5  the following, from what we're hearing from your

          6  testimony today, I believe there appears to be a

          7  lack of recognition for a changing in any way, shape

          8  or form People Meters.

          9                 So, what is it you expect to do

         10  between now and the delayed introduction date?

         11                 MR. DONATO: Well, to your first

         12  point, I don't think that that is true. I think that

         13  we are meeting and talking here in this venue.

         14  Congressman Rengal's task force will have been

         15  organized in the next few days. We spend a lot of

         16  time in Washington, and clearly, if there is

         17  something that we understand that we have done wrong

         18  that is having a material impact on the numbers,

         19  we'll do the right thing.

         20                 At this moment we have spent days and

         21  days and days, months, analyzing the x-rays of

         22  everything. We do not see anything wrong. All we see

         23  is a better service and more accurate numbers, but

         24  that does not say that we're not open to something

         25  that might come up the next two months.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So you

          3  have analyzed it?

          4                 MR. DONATO: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And

          6  obviously we'd like you to share with us any

          7  statistical data that you have gathered. The fact

          8  that there has been an investigation per se of this

          9  new process, or is there any substantive process

         10  that deals with the fact that, let's just take the

         11  hypothetical argument that I'm proposing, is that

         12  there in fact is some type of an undercount; have

         13  you done anything to investigate that substantively

         14  that you can demonstrate to this panel?

         15                 MR. DONATO: If we knew of it we would

         16  do something about it, and we would notify the

         17  market.

         18                 So much of what people are suggesting

         19  as an undercount, especially with respect to the

         20  Hispanic audiences, are based on research that you

         21  may be hearing later about today. Research would

         22  suggest that we under-represent English-speaking

         23  Latinos. We do not under-represent English-speaking

         24  Latinos. We actually over-represent them, not

         25  intentionally, but when you go out and you recruit a
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          2  sample, the first people to say yes are

          3  English-speaking Latinos, the last people to say yes

          4  are Spanish-speaking Latinos.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: To be

          6  quite frank, just hearing you say you don't do it is

          7  not enough. I think we need to be able to point to

          8  something, some type of process, which leads me to

          9  my next question, which I think is extremely

         10  important, which is, will Nielsen submit to an

         11  independent auditing of your rating process?

         12                 MR. DONATO: We do every year. Right

         13  now, as we speak.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Who is

         15  that independent auditor?

         16                 MR. DONATO: Ernst and Young.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Excuse me?

         18                 MR. DONATO: Ernst and Young.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Ernst and

         20  Young.

         21                 MR. DONATO: Ernst and Young.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Ernst.

         23                 And do you have for this Committee a

         24  copy of what their findings are or what their

         25  independent auditing has shown, what their facts and
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          2  findings are?

          3                 MR. DONATO: I can provide you.

          4  They're in field in New York right now. The timing

          5  of these audits are such that they have to wait

          6  until the market completes and that they go in and

          7  they conduct their audit.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So the

          9  auditing is in process currently?

         10                 MR. DONATO: That is correct. That's

         11  for New York.

         12                 We would be happy to provide the

         13  Committee with audits or copies of audits for all of

         14  our other services which already have been audited

         15  and are audited every year, and those would include,

         16  for example, the Hispanic services, the National

         17  People Meter Service and the Boston Local Market

         18  Service.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Obviously

         20  that would be helpful.

         21                 And just so that I can wrap it up and

         22  give the opportunity for my other colleagues to ask

         23  their question, talk to me a bit about this task

         24  force that Nielsen jointly announced with Congress

         25  Member Charles Rengal from Manhattan, and we're
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          2  interested in knowing who in fact is going to make

          3  up the membership of this task force, one.

          4                 Two, what is this specific charge

          5  that the task force members would be dealing with,

          6  and, three, what type of resources will the task

          7  force have at hand?

          8                 MR. DONATO: The membership of the

          9  task force is being appointed by Congressman Rengal.

         10  I can only tell you what I heard him say or read

         11  about, and that is I know to this day he said that

         12  there would be no elected officials on the Task

         13  Force. I know he was looking for some very senior

         14  well-known individuals that could lend credibility

         15  to the findings of the task force. We are playing no

         16  role in any kind of nomination. We expect to hear

         17  within the next few days membership on the task

         18  force. The objectives of the task force will be like

         19  this venue to share our interpretation of the

         20  differences, and to solicit their help for improving

         21  minority measurement on a moving forward basis.

         22                 That includes, for example, being

         23  able to do a better job of recruiting minority

         24  households.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And the
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          2  resources, you never answered.

          3                 MR. DONATO: I don't know the answer

          4  to that question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: There's no

          6  answer to resources.

          7                 Let me say the following. The last

          8  time I recall, Congressman Rengal is an elected

          9  official, and I think he's the one that's in fact

         10  impaneling this, so to say that there are no elected

         11  officials -- while the main force and paneling, you

         12  know, is an elected official, a senior elected

         13  official. It's not actually a correct statement. I

         14  would challenge that to say that obviously the

         15  elected officials in the City of New York primarily

         16  who always represent communities of color, were the

         17  most vocal in denouncing this implementation without

         18  input from our community respectively.

         19                 Let me additionally say that a task

         20  force minus resources to me is just window dressing,

         21  and it might be a good PR ploy, but without real

         22  substantive resources that we can do a scientific

         23  research on the data that's being collected and how

         24  it impacts in particular to our communities is

         25  unacceptable, and I want to say that for the record,
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          2  and I will continue to be saying that.

          3                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. You

          5  folks have referenced a "white paper," and we were

          6  wondering, when is that to be released?

          7                 MR. DONATO: We haven't scheduled it

          8  yet, but I would expect within about two weeks.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And you will make

         10  sure that this Committee gets a copy of that?

         11                 MR. DONATO: Yes, sir.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: This task force

         13  that Congressman Rengal has put together is specific

         14  to New York?

         15                 MR. DONATO: No, I do not believe that

         16  is the case.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It's national?

         18                 MS. FREYER: I believe it will be

         19  nationwide, yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And it's going to

         21  be based in Washington or based here?

         22                 MR. DONATO: I believe it's going to

         23  be based in New York.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         25                 And Congressman Rangel, is he the
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          2  person deciding on who should serve on this? Or when

          3  would we see the list of members?

          4                 MR. DONATO: We can provide it to you,

          5  as soon as we receive it. I can tell you right now,

          6  we do not know of any members who have been selected

          7  or appointed.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, he's working

          9  directly with President Whiting of your company?

         10                 MR. DONATO: Well, we are not mutually

         11  appointing people. Congressman Rangel is appointing

         12  people. When people call us and say they'd like to

         13  serve on the Task Force --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, it's an

         15  independent task force.

         16                 MR. DONATO: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We're not working

         18  with your company.

         19                 MR. DONATO: No. We just forward their

         20  name to Congressman Rengal indicating that this

         21  person has indicated that we should be on the task

         22  force.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I see, okay.

         24                 I wanted to introduce the class that

         25  has joined us but is leaving us, and so we want to
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          2  say good morning.

          3                 Good morning. This is Public School

          4  204 from Brooklyn, and Maria Fazio, is that it? She

          5  is the teacher. Who is the other big people back

          6  there? Welcome. This is Consumer Affairs. We're

          7  having a meeting about the Nielsen ratings, which

          8  none of our children are allowed to watch TV, so it

          9  doesn't matter, right?

         10                 Well, good luck. Thank you very much

         11  for coming. All right, see ya, kids. All right.

         12                 And we also have been joined by --

         13  well, we were and he just went away, Council Member

         14  Joseph Addabbo, from Queens. Council Member Joseph

         15  Addabbo, who is breaking the rules of the Council,

         16  but he's a brand new dad. How old is your baby? Ten

         17  days. So, you get at least a three-week window with

         18  the phone to check in. Okay, congratulations. Thank

         19  you.

         20                 Council Member Sanders had some

         21  questions, but I just really want to wrap this panel

         22  up in five minutes, Council member, so please try to

         23  be brief.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I agree with

         25  you, Mr. Chair, and I certainly will.

                                                            68

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 Good morning to our panelists. Where

          3  did this problem come from? Where did this story

          4  come from? If you're saying there's no truth to it

          5  whatsoever, things have to come from somewhere, and

          6  I understand that an organization -- if it happened

          7  in my organization, by now I would have tracked down

          8  where the story came from, and I refuse to believe

          9  that you guys who may have a dollar or two, more

         10  than we have at my level, wouldn't be able to find

         11  out where this story came from.

         12                 And I must admit, I'm coming to this

         13  rather neutral, if you wish.

         14                 Sir, I believe you were speaking?

         15                 MR. DONATO: I would be happy to

         16  answer your question.

         17                 The story came from a particular

         18  relationship with a particular client. The client

         19  has been very vocal about their opposition to us

         20  moving ahead with Local People Meters.  It's been

         21  all over the newspapers so there's no problem

         22  talking about who the client is.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Would you be

         24  kind enough to name that?

         25                 MR. DONATO: The client is Fox. Our
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          2  senior management has had a series of very difficult

          3  meetings with Fox. Fox, you might know is a duopoly

          4  in New York, they have the Fox network and they also

          5  have the UPN network. And we were told point blank

          6  that we would be discredited if we moved ahead with

          7  a launch of Local People Meters, and to the day

          8  basically the press campaign has built, built and

          9  built and it's quite easy to connect the dots and

         10  what I'm saying to you is effectively what has been

         11  captioned in several newspapers at this point.

         12                 The relationship between the concerns

         13  expressed by the Hispanic community and Fox are, I

         14  don't know how quite to describe this, but they're

         15  indirectly connected in that several newspapers have

         16  accounted for members who are supporting the

         17  Hispanic Coalition to have had several meetings with

         18  Fox executives and that there is a, I don't know,

         19  business financial relationship. I'm trying to

         20  repeat to you what has appeared at this point in

         21  roll call, in the New York Daily News and several

         22  other publications.

         23                 This is a client relationship gone

         24  very bad as a consequence of a new system, providing

         25  lower numbers, and no doubt there is anxiety and
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          2  concern over the financial impact that that would

          3  have on these stations. We obviously are concerned

          4  about it, but it is absolutely blown out of

          5  proportion, almost viral, and it is damaging, the

          6  representation of Hispanics and African-Americans in

          7  our panels in New York. The more press you read

          8  about, the more people tell us, you know, I've read

          9  something about this and I'm not sure I ought to

         10  participate.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Now, let's

         12  assume in my last question, Mr. Chair, let's assume

         13  for the sake of this conversation that, and I assume

         14  it because I don't have enough information. I

         15  haven't done the due diligence on this issue, let's

         16  assume for the sake of this conversation that it is

         17  a relationship gone astray; can it also be true that

         18  they picked up on something that was there?

         19                 Can it also be true that Nielsen

         20  inadvertently perhaps left themselves open for this,

         21  and that opening allowed this relationship to taint

         22  other relationships. And if this is true, well, let

         23  me do it differently. And if this were true, what

         24  steps will Nielsen take to remedy this situation?

         25                 MR. DONATO: We have not seen anything
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          2  in the data, anything in our analyses which suggests

          3  that any of the arguments that have been made by the

          4  Coalition or by Fox is true.

          5                 If we did see something, then we

          6  would take steps, and the steps that we would take

          7  would be dependent on what it was that we were

          8  seeing.

          9                 So, can it be true? Of course, it can

         10  always be true. We have not seen anything in the

         11  data that supports the arguments that are made,

         12  other than the fact that the numbers are different,

         13  the numbers are different in a way that every media

         14  research knows, reflects the limitations of the way

         15  the diary works, and that is exactly why most of our

         16  other clients want us to move ahead as quickly as

         17  possible.

         18                 There are probably 50 cable channels

         19  out there right now which are being under-reported

         20  by the diary, they're getting point one's and point

         21  two's. They should have point three's and point

         22  four's, that's the niche programming where so much

         23  of this viewing has gone to, and it changes things.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: To respect

         25  our Chair and this Committee as a whole, I will
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          2  refrain from any additional questions on this panel.

          3  Thank you very much for answering the questions and

          4  for being here.

          5                 MR. DONATO: Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Council

          7  member.

          8                 We have also been joined now by

          9  Council Member Gentile, Vincent Gentile from

         10  Brooklyn. I'm told that we also have a hearing

         11  across the street, and we're having Council members

         12  going back and forth, and we've got one next door.

         13  So, that's why it looks somewhat like musical

         14  chairs. We're all trying to pay attention to a lot

         15  of things.

         16                 I appreciate this panel coming. I'm

         17  going to be more appreciative that you're staying

         18  here, from the advocates. I think we are all

         19  interested in getting to the truth of, or the

         20  consequence of this Local People Meter, and the

         21  fairness that I think what we are in the Council

         22  trying to establish is that there's a fairness in

         23  evaluation of who is watching what on TV. For years

         24  I hope I don't have to tell you, or most people in

         25  this audience, Asians, African-Americans, Latinos,
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          2  women, we always never saw ourselves represented on

          3  television.

          4                 And then the few times we did, it was

          5  in some role of a buffoon and we are just barely

          6  seeing ourselves represented occasionally now, and I

          7  think the concern is that this may be an innocent

          8  new way to evolve technology so there's what has

          9  been called accuracy in reporting what is being

         10  watched. But those communities, as well as others,

         11  are feeling threatened, that just as we are

         12  beginning to see ourselves represented in any sort

         13  of way that isn't cartoonish, that bam, they changed

         14  the system and we're going to see statistics that

         15  say we don't really watch those shows and we don't

         16  really exist, and so we could go back to our all

         17  white TV. And nobody wants to have that happen, and

         18  as long as I'm in this Chair, in New York City we're

         19  going to monitor that.

         20                 I don't think that's what Nielsen's

         21  intention is. It may be the consequence of this.

         22  That's what we're trying to figure out.

         23                 I'm a little disappointed that there

         24  seems to be some pretty straightforward and simple

         25  and obvious questions that you are unprepared to
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          2  answer today, but you'll have a chance at our next

          3  hearing. So, I appreciate your being here, and that

          4  you're going to hear from, stay to hear what the

          5  advocates have to say, so we're not operating in an

          6  adversarial fashion. Thank you all very much for

          7  being here.

          8                 MR. DONATO: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         10                 I want to call the next panel, and

         11  announce that we're also taking a two-minute break,

         12  but we will have, if you all want to come to the

         13  table, Paul Williams, the President of One Hundred

         14  Black Men, Inc.

         15                 Reverend Jacques Degrav, the New York

         16  City Clergy, and Lillian Lopez, who is representing

         17  the Hispanic Federation, and Alex Nogales, the

         18  President/CEO of the National Hispanic Media

         19  Coalition. And we will be starting in just a moment.

         20                 (Recess taken.)

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         22  much. I think you know that we're here today looking

         23  at Council Member Monserrate's resolution regarding

         24  the Nielsen rating system, a use of these Local

         25  People Meters, and we appreciate your coming, as we
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          2  had with the previous witnesses, we'd appreciate it

          3  if you would allow the Counsel to the Committee to

          4  swear you in.

          5                 MS. BROWN: Good morning.

          6                 Do you swear or affirm that the

          7  testimony and answers you are about to provide are

          8  entirely truthful?

          9                 MR. WILLIAMS: I do.

         10                 MR. NOGALES: I do.

         11                 MS. LOPEZ: I do.

         12                 REVEREND DEGRAV: I do.

         13                 MS. BROWN: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I don't know who

         15  wants to start first, so I'll leave that to you.

         16  Thank you. And when the light is off, the microphone

         17  is on, and please begin by identifying yourself.

         18                 MR. WILLIAMS: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman, members of the Committee and ladies and

         20  gentlemen. My name is Paul Williams, Jr., and I

         21  provide these remarks this morning as President of

         22  One Hundred Black Men, Incorporated, one of the

         23  members of the Don't County Us Out Coalition, and

         24  I'm speaking in favor of Resolution 268.

         25                 By way of background, One Hundred
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          2  Black Men is an organization comprised of

          3  professional men from throughout the City, from

          4  throughout the Metropolitan Region, in fact, founded

          5  in 1963 here in New York City. Our members have

          6  proven over 40 years their commitment to giving back

          7  and making a difference, particularly for the youth

          8  of our great City by promoting programs and

          9  education mentorship, economic development, health

         10  and wellness.

         11                 Along the way we have also been

         12  steadfast in providing a voice on important issues

         13  facing New York City, particularly issues of

         14  critical importance to the African-American

         15  community, and to other people of color.  Today in

         16  that tradition, I come to express our deep concern

         17  regarding the imminent planned implementation by

         18  Nielsen Media Research of a new rating system in New

         19  York.

         20                 The new system is dependent primarily

         21  on use of Local People Meters or LPMs, though LPMs

         22  have been in limited use in other markets, they have

         23  never been used in the local New York market, or for

         24  that matter in any urban market as richly diverse in

         25  culture or language, as New York. Initially set to
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          2  be deployed on April 8th, implementation on LPMs was

          3  wisely postponed by Nielsen when community groups,

          4  such as One Hundred Black Men and many others,

          5  lifted our voices in protest of the planned

          6  implementation.

          7                 We say to you today, join your voice

          8  with ours and urge Nielsen to mothball LPMs in New

          9  York City until this new system has been

         10  independently tested and independently verified as

         11  an accurate measure of television viewing audiences

         12  across all ethnic and cultural groups.

         13                 What is the issue with LPMs? Why are

         14  we so concerned? Briefly stated, in Nielsen's own

         15  sampling of the new system, ratings of shows with

         16  substantial audiences among people of color took

         17  nose-dives, dropping in some cases 20 to 60 percent.

         18                 Since ratings dictate the economic

         19  viability of programming, catastrophic drops in

         20  ratings of such shows could spell disaster.

         21                 Not only could such ratings imperil

         22  the life of existing shows, but particularly in

         23  Hollywood in the television industry, where trends

         24  are the equivalent of the Holy Grail, the perception

         25  that so-called black shows or Latino shows were
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          2  shows that seek to appeal the needs to these

          3  audiences could not win ratings, could have a

          4  lasting chilling effect on the future production of

          5  such shows.

          6                 Is this an important social issue far

          7  greater than any one company's vested self-interest?

          8  Surely Nielsen which generates its corporate

          9  revenue, five- to six-hundred million dollars a

         10  year, as we have heard from its industry subscriber

         11  base, which uses its proprietary rating system, has

         12  an economic interest in this controversy.

         13                 So, too, do broadcast networks,

         14  including Fox and others, who stand to lose

         15  revenues, if ratings decline.

         16                 There are many entities within the

         17  television industry that stand to gain or lose,

         18  depending on the outcome of this debate, but

         19  regardless of any one company's particular interest

         20  in this issue, we submit that the issue itself is

         21  important, and we should not be distracted from

         22  thoughtfully addressing it by pointing fingers at

         23  anyone.

         24                 We certainly will not be distracted

         25  by such transparent tactics, tactics designed to
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          2  marginalize the legitimate community concerns that

          3  we raise today.

          4                 I do not care for everything that I

          5  see on television. That goes even for programs and

          6  largely at audiences of color. But as Councilman

          7  Reed has indicated, I do care that television today

          8  reflects the racial and cultural diversity that

          9  makes America great, not only actors and actresses

         10  in front of cameras, but increasingly so behind the

         11  cameras and in executive suites as well.

         12                 I need not remind this panel that

         13  these gains did not come merely for the asking. As a

         14  lawyer and a student of history, I am particularly

         15  aware that brave leaders along the way, long before

         16  our time, as well as ordinary folk, set in motion

         17  the struggle it took to get to this point today, and

         18  this was no painless battle, people were hurt,

         19  people bled, people have died to achieve this

         20  reality as imperfect yet as it may be.

         21                 Having grown up in an era where black

         22  people in particular were nearly non-existent in

         23  programming on television, I am not prepared, and we

         24  should not be prepared, even Nielsen should not be

         25  prepared to go back to that bitter time and place
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          2  under any circumstances.

          3                 In particular, we cannot sit still

          4  and have our present reality potentially destroyed

          5  on the basis of applaud ratings system.

          6                 We believe that Nielsen to date has

          7  been unwilling or unable to explain why ratings

          8  under the new LPMs differ in fact so dramatically

          9  from the diary system currently in use, and in

         10  particular, why there appears to be such a drastic

         11  fall-off in ratings of particular shows.

         12                 For the reasons I have stated, we

         13  demand to know the answer to these important

         14  questions before, not after, a new system is

         15  deployed.

         16                 Our own understanding of dynamics is

         17  limited because Nielsen, a virtual monopoly, is the

         18  gatekeeper of all critical data. But based on what

         19  we understand, we believe there are at least three

         20  contributing factors. Migration, in this month's

         21  Bloomberg Markets Magazine, my friend and business

         22  reporter Joel Dreyfuss, reports that migration, the

         23  movement of viewers from broadcast networks, cable

         24  shows, threatens the economics of CBS and implicitly

         25  of all of the broadcast networks.
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          2                 He reports that in 1984/'85, 45

          3  percent of US households watched broadcast network

          4  shows in prime time, but by 2002, 2003, that number

          5  was down to 30 percent, while 29 percent tune into a

          6  wide array of cable programs.

          7                 Nielsen has at times, and even today,

          8  has suggested that migration explains the otherwise

          9  unexplained results of its sampling of LPMs in New

         10  York, yet we remain unconvinced. If rating declines

         11  were near uniform across all types of programming,

         12  maybe so. But neither Nielsen nor anyone else, to

         13  our knowledge, has offered reasons why

         14  African-American or other people of color have a

         15  higher incidence of migration than anyone else.

         16                 Non-conforming use. The LPMs, if used

         17  correctly, require household members to punch in

         18  numbers every time a new visitor arrives to watch

         19  television, or leaves a room to do something else.

         20  Though seemingly easy to use in larger and younger

         21  households, where there may be more itinerant

         22  viewers, who was to say that the system is being

         23  used correctly. If members of such households tire

         24  of using the LPMs in the manner called for, then the

         25  system cannot accurately measure what they are
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          2  watching, and the ratings that are produced will not

          3  be accurate.

          4                 Down time. We understand that there

          5  are times when households simply cannot use the LPMs

          6  at all. Sometimes there are technical difficulties

          7  that prevent their use. Sometimes households need

          8  instruction on how to use the devices. In these

          9  cases these households are excluded from tabulation.

         10                 Given the relatively small size of

         11  the households of color in pure numeric terms, this

         12  could have adverse ratings implications for programs

         13  watched in these households.

         14                 Nielsen would know whether this has

         15  been the case, but until now conformatory data has

         16  not been available to the public to check the

         17  reliability of Nielsen's ratings.

         18                 Nielsen has indicated, however, that

         19  its processes and systems are audited by a leading

         20  big accounting firm and it has been mentioned here

         21  today Ernst and Young. We take, in fact, no comfort

         22  from this report whatsoever.

         23                 Enron, Tico, Lucent, Worldcom, these

         24  examples and plenty more, show that Nielsen's

         25  reliance on such outside audit reports may in fact
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          2  be misplaced.

          3                 It certainly doesn't help that the

          4  very company Nielsen raises up as its paragon of

          5  reliability was just last week fined $1.7 million by

          6  the Securities Exchange Commission and barred from

          7  taking on new audit clients for six months, for

          8  committing, and I quote, "repeated violations of the

          9  auditor independent standards by conduct that was

         10  reckless, highly unreasonable, and negligent."

         11                 In closing, let me be crystal clear.

         12  What do we want? Number 1. We call for independent

         13  testing and independent verification of the

         14  reliability of LPMs, particularly relating to their

         15  use in black and Latino households.

         16                 We believe that the experts selected

         17  for this task should be the best and brightest

         18  available, and must include men and women of color

         19  who are sensitive to cultural issues pertaining to

         20  their communities.

         21                 Number 2. We call for the formation

         22  of a Blue Ribbon Commission, one composed of

         23  representatives of all interested parties to review

         24  the work and assessments of the experts.

         25                 This commission should include
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          2  activists, industry and Nielsen representatives, but

          3  should not be a rubber stamp committee or a task

          4  force.

          5                 Number 3. The results of the work of

          6  the experts and the commission should be widely

          7  disseminated to the public. Going forward, it is

          8  absolutely critical that the public be fully engaged

          9  and fully aware of how Nielsen ratings systems

         10  really work.

         11                 Number 4. We insist that Nielsen

         12  postpone any implementation of LPMs for local

         13  ratings in New York indefinitely, and that it

         14  publicly commit to refrain from using them in New

         15  York, or in any urban area in America, where they

         16  are not in current use until the steps I have just

         17  outlined are fully completed.

         18                 And last but not least, you might ask

         19  what do we wish you to do? We hope that the Council

         20  does in fact endorse and support Councilman

         21  Monserrate's Resolution 268. But even further, we

         22  ask that you do collectively and individually

         23  everything within your power to help us achieve the

         24  steps that we have just stated.

         25                 One last point I want to make before
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          2  I close is this: Nielsen repeatedly indicates in

          3  reports that blacks and Hispanics are

          4  over-represented in the New York sample. Today we

          5  have learned that that sample is far greater than

          6  just New York City where blacks and Hispanics make

          7  up a majority of the population, but includes

          8  perhaps 28 surrounding counties.

          9                 I ask you, if we are over-rated in

         10  Nielsen's sample, why? Doesn't this alone suggest

         11  that there is a problem with the way Nielsen's

         12  system measures ethnically and culturally diverse

         13  households in this culturally diverse setting?

         14                 As importantly, we are not concerned

         15  solely with the size or characteristics of the

         16  sample, although this is very important. We are

         17  equally concerned with how people use this new

         18  technology, this new device. Nielsen seems to

         19  continually ignore this very important point.

         20                 Thank you for your time and

         21  consideration of this issue.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         23                 Ms. Lopez.

         24                 MS. LOPEZ: Councilman Reed, and

         25  fellow Councilpeople, I'm so grateful to have the
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          2  opportunity to be here today and talk to you.

          3                 I don't have written testimony, I was

          4  traveling this weekend. This is an issue that I care

          5  very much about and I have been active over the last

          6  couple of weeks.

          7                 I want to just make two clarifying

          8  points.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do me a favor.

         10                 MS. LOPEZ: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Just identify

         12  yourself for the record.

         13                 MS. LOPEZ: Okay. Lillian

         14  Rodriguez-Lopez, Executive Vice President, Hispanic

         15  Federation, and a member of the Coalition that has

         16  been working around this issue for several weeks

         17  around the Nielsen undercount of communities of

         18  colors and the effect on the programs.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         20                 MS. LOPEZ: First, I want to say I did

         21  have an opportunity to be in a high-level meeting

         22  the other day at the Hispanic Federation. It was

         23  with Susan Whiting. And while the testimony that was

         24  offered --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And Susan Whiting
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          2  would be the president of Nielsen.

          3                 MS. LOPEZ: The president Nielsen.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes.

          5                 MS. LOPEZ: And what was shared with

          6  us is while there was a great emphasis placed on the

          7  percentage of the sample for African-Americans and

          8  Hispanics at this hearing.

          9                 It wasn't mentioned, we were told by

         10  Ms. Whiting that the sample size itself is only 800

         11  households, and when we tried to calculate 800

         12  households into the number of residents in New York

         13  City, and we tried to do it to 8 million, we found

         14  that that was many, many decimal points before you

         15  got to the one. So, I just want to say that while we

         16  can --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In other words,

         18  you're using the same math that I do.

         19                 MS. LOPEZ: Yes, I use the same math

         20  that you did and I do want to emphasize that if you

         21  talk about over-sampling, if the sample size is too

         22  small, it can also become statistically inaccurate.

         23  So, I just want to put that out.

         24                 The second thing that I want to raise

         25  is, because in our meeting we also raised this
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          2  issue, the article that people are talking about

          3  with regard to the undercounting of the 300,000

          4  Hispanic households in New York with a New York

          5  Times article July 17th, 2000, where Harry R.

          6  Secker, who was the Nielsen executive stated, "as

          7  more and more Hispanics have come to the United

          8  States, it has become more complicated. He was

          9  talking about managing the rating systems for the

         10  local television stations in urban areas.

         11                 We might have the right number of

         12  households that are Hispanic by origin in our

         13  sample, but we do not have the right number of

         14  people who primarily speak Spanish. So, they may

         15  have a high turnover at the Nielsen company. So this

         16  may be something that they want to refer back to,

         17  the New York Times, July 17th, 2000, which is simply

         18  four years, not quite four years ago. But anyway,

         19  onto what I need to say, the Hispanic Federation is

         20  an organization that represents 81 Latino

         21  non-profits in the New York, New Jersey and

         22  Connecticut area.

         23                 We have become actively involved in

         24  this issue, and we're actively involved because we

         25  care about undercounting. It's not just for the
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          2  Nielsen system and its impact on television ratings

          3  and what that means to our community, but also

          4  under-counting as it affects census, civic

          5  participation and our elected leadership, and other

          6  issues of that kind. We are tired of being

          7  under-counted.

          8                 It is very interesting now to hear as

          9  a defense of the Local People Meter, all the

         10  inaccuracies and flaws that existed with the diary

         11  system over the last couple of years.

         12                 I don't know about you, but we used

         13  to call that a switch-n-bait. I'm from the Bronx.

         14  And, so, while we understand that the LPM system may

         15  be an improved system, it still is showing itself to

         16  be severely flawed, and given the fact that they are

         17  rolling out the system in New York, and we have a

         18  very diverse community, we believe that there is an

         19  opportunity to not allow the inaccuracies and the

         20  problems that existed with the diary system, but to

         21  actually figure out how this system can be improved.

         22  So, that's why the Hispanic Federation and other

         23  people that are here with me at the table, my fine

         24  colleagues here, are so concerned. What we're trying

         25  to do at this point is bring some attention to it,
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          2  regardless of who other big partners may be speaking

          3  separately and independently with a lot bigger

          4  budgets than we have, but finally you have a large

          5  media outlet that's also saying opening up the book

          6  to an extremely closed system that no one understood

          7  for years.

          8                 I also have never met anyone who has

          9  been in Nielsen family. Our concerns specifically

         10  around the Local People Meters, it's very simple,

         11  you have an inaccurate system that affects an

         12  industry where communities of color are grossly

         13  under-represented. We're not talking viewership in

         14  terms of what you're seeing or what the LPM is

         15  showing, I'm talking about writers, producers,

         16  actors, people who actually want to work in the

         17  industry and have a creative role in it, and if you

         18  have LPMs showing such a drastic decrease in the

         19  number of people that are viewing these programs,

         20  once again, you are closing the door for our

         21  communities to gain access to this industry, and

         22  advertisers will look at these numbers and no longer

         23  support this programming and perhaps the other side

         24  of that coin is will not market or provide dollars

         25  to our communities because they no longer see us as
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          2  active viewers of television.

          3                 It is true that the highest

          4  percentage drops were for programming that were

          5  geared toward ethnic communities, but they were also

          6  other drops and they have to be explained. And I do

          7  not believe, nor does the Coalition believe, that it

          8  is our job to explain these gross variances in

          9  viewership.

         10                 It is nuisance responsibility to look

         11  at this, to have an independent audit, to have some

         12  independent people that can look at the programming,

         13  the demographics and truly understand and give an

         14  explanation as to why this has occurred. It's not

         15  our job, nor is it your job, as members of the City

         16  Council, to have to explain to them or give some

         17  kind of analysis as to why this has occurred with

         18  the Local People Meters.

         19                 So, what we're asking for is an

         20  independent review, an independent task force that

         21  will look at the LPM system, assess the cause of

         22  these discrepancies and the gross drops in

         23  viewership and then give it an opportunity to

         24  explain itself, and give them an opportunity to

         25  explain themselves, whether it takes two months, six
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          2  months or two years.

          3                 So, I want to thank you very, very

          4  much for this opportunity, for your interest, and

          5  your advocacy and we also support the resolution

          6  that's been introduced by Councilman Monserrate.

          7  Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Reverend Degrav, just before you get

         11  started, you're representing Canaan (phonetic)

         12  today?

         13                 REVEREND DEGRAV: Yes, I am.

         14                 Mr. Chairman, members of the

         15  Committee, Counsel and staff, it's an honor and

         16  privilege to be here today.

         17                 Members of the clergy, on Monday,

         18  like many of you, we work on Sunday, so Monday is

         19  usually our day off and we thought that this hearing

         20  is of such magnitude and importance that we would

         21  sacrifice that to be part of this panel, and make a

         22  contribution through our report.

         23                 As some of you may know, Canaan

         24  Baptist Church in the City of New York is one of the

         25  homes of social justice. It's the last church in the
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          2  last place in New York that Reverend Martin Luther

          3  King appeared before his assassination. The outgoing

          4  pastor, the Reverend Dr. Wyatt T. Walker, was Chief

          5  of Staff to Martin Luther King, and an ally of

          6  Nelson Mandella and the church was a home for the

          7  ANC movement during the fight against apartheid it

          8  has a long tradition against injustice.

          9                 Yours truly has stood against

         10  injustice in many places traveling to Sudan to

         11  spotlight slavery and discrimination there, standing

         12  up against the fights against Vieques and the policy

         13  there. Going to Perry, Florida, where a legislator

         14  was discriminated against through a back door policy

         15  in a public accommodation.

         16                 And today we stand in a tradition

         17  that has a long history, as you know. And we're here

         18  today, because very simply put, the community in

         19  faith is very concerned about the situation with the

         20  Nielsen rating. We believe that it is much more than

         21  has been represented. It is much more than a

         22  discussion of methodologies or misunderstandings.

         23  It's a discussion about fairness and that's why

         24  we're here today.

         25                 The role of television in particular
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          2  and media in general in our community is a pervasive

          3  one and a prevailing one. We're concerned really

          4  about what happens to our children when we're shut

          5  out.

          6                 As you know, in this country we also

          7  had experts present charts and studies and all kinds

          8  of intelligence to substantiate all kinds of

          9  practices that had the net effect of harming people

         10  of color.

         11                 We remember poll taxes and citizen

         12  tests that reflected themselves only again recently

         13  in Florida. So, we must be ever vigilant when these

         14  practices or the notions of these practices rear

         15  their head in public life.

         16                 We stand on this moment recognizing

         17  that this is not just an economic discussion, but it

         18  is a cultural and historic discussion about what

         19  kind of people will we be and how will our values be

         20  projected on television. If we're not included in

         21  the count, if we are not represented in the

         22  discussions, then it raises many, many serious

         23  issues for us.

         24                 We start with some fundamental issues

         25  about Nielsen itself. Who are these people? Where
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          2  did they come from? We've heard some discussion

          3  about their methodologies, but what is their

          4  diversity practices and programs as a company?

          5                 We see some of the people who are

          6  here today as inside and outside counsel and we

          7  wonder what their numbers look like in response to

          8  the fact that the City of New York in fact has a new

          9  majority.

         10                 This is a local municipal hearing,

         11  this is a national moment. This is an issue that has

         12  implications across the country, in urban and

         13  suburban and even rural areas, about who is going to

         14  be included in the discussion.

         15                 So, we come here today seeking really

         16  justice. We're asking, first of all, we stand in

         17  support of the resolution 268, but we're asking the

         18  Council not to stop there. Hold their feet to the

         19  fire and ask the tough questions that the Coalition

         20  has raised and others across the country who stand

         21  for fairness and decency and justice.

         22                 The same issue can come and affect us

         23  as a society in many forms and fashion. So, we have

         24  come today to petition you to consider our support

         25  as you take legislative action in these Chambers. It
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          2  is not a matter that we take lightly.

          3                 The clergy community, the community

          4  of faith has a lot of experience in our

          5  congregations, people who work in the entertainment

          6  industry. But we have more experience with the

          7  consumers on the other side of the TV screen, people

          8  who get their images, their values, their

          9  information on the decisions that are made, not by

         10  Nielsen, but by advertisers and people who make the

         11  programs and the information that they make that

         12  based on.

         13                 So, we stand here today to again urge

         14  you and to let you know of our strong, strong,

         15  outpouring of support in favor of this issue.

         16                 Our numbers are historic and our

         17  membership is historic because what we have done is

         18  we have gone across ethnic lines, we have gone

         19  across geographic lines, to stand together on this

         20  issue.

         21                 There are many things in New York

         22  that separate communities one from another, but on

         23  this issue we are all united, standing for justice.

         24  We ask you to remember as you took your oath of

         25  office, that there were some implications in between
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          2  the lines and we ask you to live up to that. We

          3  thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          5                 Mr. Nogales.

          6                 MR. NOGALES: My name is Alex Nogales,

          7  and I'm the President/CEO of the National Hispanic

          8  Media Coalition. We have nine chapters across the

          9  nation, one here in New York City. But I'm

         10  representing a larger body today. I'm representing

         11  the National Latino Media Council, which is composed

         12  of 12 of the largest civil rights and advocacy

         13  organizations in the nation, to include National

         14  Council of Larusa (phonetic), to include Perldef

         15  (phonetic), Maldef, to include the National Puerto

         16  Rican Coalition, to include all these very powerful

         17  advocacy civil rights organizations.

         18                 The only one that I will not

         19  represent here today is the CHCI, the Congressional

         20  Hispanic Caucus Institute, because of the political

         21  nature of this discussion.

         22                 I have to tell you that five years

         23  ago we were meeting with Nielsen to complain about

         24  the low numbers in Spanish-speaking audience

         25  samples. Three years ago, we started speaking to
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          2  Nielsen about the fact that the Latinos were being,

          3  English language Latinos were being undercounted in

          4  their study.

          5                 We met with them three times, and

          6  each time the whole subject got more mysterious, it

          7  got more vague and it became more evasive.

          8                 Finally, we just decided that we have

          9  to do our own study, because the answers certainly

         10  were not forthcoming from them, as they have not

         11  been forthcoming here today.

         12                 Our study showed the following: The

         13  home language measure used by Nielsen Media Research

         14  to classify Latino households into language

         15  categories is unstable and inadequate as a measure

         16  to rate Latino television ratings.

         17                 Let me give you an example of that.

         18  The George Lopez Show. In a ratings month last year,

         19  they came out with the fact that there had been 1.2

         20  million Latinos watching the show. They surveyed 17

         21  markets. We surveyed four markets, and we found

         22  852,000 Latinos watching the show. We did four

         23  markets, they did 17. If you extrapolate, the figure

         24  should have been over 2 million Latinos watching

         25  that show. That has not happened.
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          2                 We have a relationship with Nielsen.

          3  We know that the work that they do is very

          4  important. We know that it is very complex. But

          5  nevertheless, they have a responsibility to the

          6  community at large, especially when they're making

          7  so much money, especially when they're a monopoly.

          8                 So, first of all, I would want to

          9  clear up that we are not in the pay of the Fox

         10  network. That as a matter of fact, I have a petition

         11  to deny the acquisition of direct TV by Fox, and the

         12  reason for that is because they fail to include

         13  Latinos in the business dealing. We lost the

         14  petition in January, and we have filed a

         15  reconsideration, which is an appeal to that

         16  petition.

         17                 And, so, we take no money from them,

         18  and, in fact, this study of ours was not

         19  underwritten by Fox, it was underwritten by a grant,

         20  an unconditional grant by CBS and ABC.

         21                 The numbers that we have been told

         22  exist in New York, are very interesting numbers.

         23  They're percentages. We are told that

         24  African-Americans, as well as Latinos are

         25  over-represented. One group by four and the other
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          2  one by one percent.

          3                 I would like to know how we got

          4  there. Because that is the problem. It is the base

          5  that is wrong, it is the methodology that is wrong

          6  here. You know we go to the networks on a very

          7  regular basis to monitor what it is that they're

          8  doing with Latinos and other people of color.

          9                 We went to one of those networks and

         10  they said to us, hey, you're going to be very proud

         11  of us. We went up 100 percent on our writers. That

         12  went from two to four. Out of a pool of over 250

         13  writers that represent the shows that they have on

         14  television.

         15                 We have the same type of situation

         16  here, and we don't know the answers to how they got

         17  there because they don't tell us, and that is

         18  exactly the crux of the matter.

         19                 We need to know exactly what the

         20  methodology is they use to come with those numbers

         21  so that in fact we are all looking at the same team

         22  and agreeing that this is correct, that this is

         23  reasonable.

         24                 Now, to say that the four networks,

         25  that three out of the four networks are not
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          2  complaining and are very happy with the rating, is

          3  misinformation. They are not happy, but what are

          4  they going to do? They're a monopoly, they're the

          5  only game in town. They need to have numbers of some

          6  type to sell their advertising. By the way, we want

          7  to be on that task force. We haven't been invited,

          8  even though the study came out, they very quickly

          9  called us to tell us that they would like to meet

         10  with us so that we could clear up any

         11  misunderstandings. The letter from representative

         12  Hilda Solez (phonetic) came in, signed by

         13  Congressman Bingle (phonetic), Congressman Marchi

         14  and Congressman Gonzalez. It wasn't until that time

         15  that they took the situation seriously and called

         16  again to set up a meeting that they had not lived up

         17  to earlier.

         18                 They wrote a letter back to the

         19  Congresswoman saying the National Latino Media Study

         20  has all kinds of errors, but we are willing to meet

         21  with the National Latino Media Council, so in fact

         22  we can clear up our differences.

         23                 Instead, what they did is it went to

         24  television week, which is one of the broadcast

         25  standards, and did this, which is an attack on the
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          2  study. They cancelled the meeting that we had with

          3  them, and so today we still don't have a meeting,

          4  until right now where I went to Jack and he said we

          5  should talk. We've been waiting. You know, we're not

          6  here to hold anybody up. You know, the networks need

          7  a measure to set their advertising rates by, and so

          8  we're not here to hold them up, but we do want an

          9  accounting of how they get those numbers. That is

         10  the crux of the matter right here.

         11                 I thank you very much here in New

         12  York for taking the position that you have taken.

         13  Because we're going to be asking our Councilmen from

         14  Los Angeles, the area where I'm from, and the

         15  Councilman of Chicago to do the same thing. Because

         16  I think that it is very important that we're all on

         17  the same glass by what is going on, if we all had

         18  the right answers, or answers that are clear as they

         19  can be as to how they get their methodology, how

         20  they get their numbers.

         21                 Other than that, Latinos, and I'm

         22  only going to speak Latinos, because that's what

         23  I've been studying here.

         24                 Latinos will not be hired in the

         25  networks. Why should we. We bring nothing to the
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          2  party, we don't even watch the television. Latino

          3  programs is not going to be a priority for any one

          4  of the networks, why should they be? If there is not

          5  a base of Latinos watching this program, that's not

          6  going to happen.

          7                 Also, there is an incredible

          8  injustice that is being done here to the

          9  advertisers. Advertisers want to get to the Latino

         10  market. After all, we're 13.6 percent of the U.S.

         11  population, consuming at the rate of over $650

         12  billion a year. That's a lot of money. They want our

         13  young demographics, but they can't find us, because

         14  Nielsen is saying they're over there, no they're

         15  over here, no they're over there. That doesn't do

         16  it.

         17                 Now, to say as well that the National

         18  Hispanic Index is working properly is a misnomer.

         19  It's not working properly, and if you go to those

         20  Spanish language networks, you will find exactly the

         21  same thing. They will complain about the fact that

         22  that system is broken, and it needs fixing. And

         23  Nielsen is making the money, so they can afford to

         24  invest in making sure that these corrections are

         25  made.
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          2                 You know, when Ford has a defective

          3  car, they don't just leave it out there. They call

          4  it back in, they fix it and then they put it out,

          5  and we're asking Nielsen, whether it takes two

          6  months or three months or six months or a year to do

          7  precisely the same thing, because there is too much

          8  at stake of communities of colors for this not to

          9  happen.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very much

         12  for your testimony. You had referenced several times

         13  to a person named Jack, and I'm trying to make sure

         14  we know who that is, since you were referring to

         15  him.

         16                 MR. NOGALES: Jack Luftus (phonetic),

         17  who is part of the Nielsen team. He is sitting right

         18  over here.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         20                 MR. NOGALES: Good friend. Or was a

         21  good friend.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I thank you for

         23  that, too. At least at the moment.

         24                 All of you have raised some very

         25  important questions, and they are profound and
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          2  certainly I and members of this Committee could take

          3  them personally and understand from our own

          4  experiences what you're talking about, not seeing

          5  ourselves represented or embarrassed by the

          6  representation. I guess the only thing I would --

          7  you know, sometimes I listen to people when we're

          8  having discussions of race and it's troublesome to

          9  me because, and I don't suggest that that's what you

         10  were doing, but perception always is that black

         11  people only watch black shows and Latinos only watch

         12  this and white folks don't ever watch any of that.

         13  And I'm convinced that there's a huge amount of

         14  cross-over back and forth. But be that as it may,

         15  you're right, I mean if you have shows that are

         16  predominantly about one group of people, there is a

         17  tendency to have people not en mass watch those

         18  shows. And I also think that what we're trying to

         19  get at here in terms of the statistics of Council

         20  Member Monserrate's resolution, perhaps that Nielsen

         21  has a monopoly, perhaps it's not often been asked to

         22  document what it is that they're selling. There's

         23  only one brand out there, and that is problematic.

         24                 I was speaking to Counsel about who

         25  all else we have asked to participate, and I know
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          2  there was some short notice about this. So, I want

          3  you to know that by Wednesday you will know the next

          4  hearing date, which is going to be in May, so these

          5  are questions that we've asked, you will have time

          6  to get them to us, we're also asking the networks to

          7  come and give us their evaluation. So, we will let

          8  you know the hearing date so that whatever problems

          9  that were encountered by the fact that we move this

         10  hearing up because of the timeliness of the task

         11  force, et cetera, et cetera, will be addressed.

         12                 I also just wanted to disclose that

         13  Reverend Degrav and I have known each other in the

         14  past, so sometimes you have to put full disclosure

         15  out there, Jacques, but I have to take exception to

         16  one thing that you said, Council members never get a

         17  day off. The ministry may have Monday off, but I

         18  know that I was in church yesterday at 11:00, and

         19  then I was at a dinner up until 10:00 last night and

         20  there were a couple of other things in the middle of

         21  Sunday and here I am this morning. So, I would hate

         22  to hear about Council Member Sanders, Jr., or I

         23  don't know what he was doing yesterday. So, we just

         24  want you to know, we are full service 24/7.

         25                 REVEREND DEGRAV: I'll mention that to
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          2  the boss.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Thank

          4  you. And we would appreciate a little grace.

          5                 None of you have been asked to

          6  participate in the task force as of yet, that's

          7  correct?

          8                 REVEREND DEGRAV: That is correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Mr. Williams,

         10  that's true?

         11                 MR. WILLIAMS: Mr. Chairman, that is

         12  correct. I have not been contacted by the task

         13  force. Of course I know Congressman Rangel well,

         14  he's a member of our Board of Directors, I have

         15  reached out to his office, regarding the task force,

         16  and hopefully I expect to speak with him soon about

         17  it. But we have not as of this time been invited

         18  formally or informally to sit on the task force.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I was

         20  actually with the Congressman last night, and he

         21  said he was interested in the outcome of this

         22  hearing, so I will certainly tell him that one of

         23  the things we would like to see is that there be

         24  full representation on this task force of the people

         25  who participated, perhaps maybe even a member, not
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          2  necessarily myself, but perhaps of this committee.

          3  We can begin to understand it.

          4                 In a perfect world, what would you

          5  like to see happen with the Nielsen's?

          6                 Mr. Nogales.

          7                 MR. NOGALES: Thank you. They need to

          8  work with all of us to make sure that their

          9  methodology is what it should be. Because other than

         10  that, we're going to have the same problem time and

         11  time again.

         12                 Let us understand very clearly that

         13  this is not just a New York problem. It is a

         14  national problem because from here it goes to Los

         15  Angeles. If it is not stopped here and corrected

         16  here, this is going to roll it out somewhere else,

         17  and we will have a hell of a time down the line

         18  trying to correct it.

         19                 So, to a large degree they have to

         20  stop right now, whether it takes two months again or

         21  six months, whatever it takes, but they have to

         22  correct it here.

         23                 And I'm sorry for the networks but

         24  they're going to have to wait.

         25                 REVEREND DEGRAV: I think one other
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          2  factor bears on this situation, and that is, we

          3  would like to be assured through the task force or

          4  through direct communication about the development

          5  of these responses, in terms of cultural

          6  sensitivity.

          7                 The whole idea of this People Meter

          8  is to have people check in as they go in and out of

          9  the room or as they change channels. To me that

         10  doesn't make a whole lot of sense, culturally common

         11  sense-wise, and I wonder who was in the room when

         12  they came up with this method in the first place.

         13                 But whatever they come up with in the

         14  future, I'd like to hear a discussion or at least a

         15  presentation as to how they arrived at these

         16  decisions and conclusions.

         17                 MR. WILLIAMS: And if I may, in the

         18  perfect world, I think it's very important to stress

         19  that an absolutely critical point is to have this

         20  technology and process that Nielsen wishes to

         21  implement here in our local market, tested and

         22  verified by independent academics and professionals

         23  that include people of color, sensitive to cultural

         24  issues and orientations.

         25                 Simply having Nielsen hire Ernst and

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  Young through the ad -- through the Council or

          3  otherwise, is not the answer. We need a real

          4  independent look at this, so that a valid assessment

          5  can be made so that people can begin you know to

          6  have some confidence in. Because the fact of the

          7  matter is, Nielsen was walking on a think layer of

          8  confidence, particularly in our community, in the

          9  black community to begin with, now that there is a

         10  recognition that the diary system has been less than

         11  accurate in and of itself, that confidence level has

         12  dropped even further. With the sampling in February,

         13  it's dropping even further. So, the ball is really

         14  in Nielsen's court to try to turn that around, but

         15  they can only do it if they agree to a true

         16  independent verification of their system.

         17                 REVEREND DEGRAV: Mr. Chairman,

         18  there's one other factor that underscores the

         19  urgency and the relevance of this moment. In the

         20  City where there are projected 50 percent

         21  unemployment amongst African-Americans, one of the

         22  groups that Nielsen appears to have a handle in

         23  counting are black men. So we wonder what other

         24  areas they have problems and if they need assistance

         25  in finding folks, that's what we're here for.
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          2                 MS. LOPEZ: Chairman, also, in an

          3  ideal world you would understand the training that

          4  goes into having the families use the system,

          5  because when you have households with multiple

          6  televisions and then think about how you fight over

          7  one remote and now you're being told if a household

          8  had three, four, five people, every person has their

          9  own remote box. I would be very interested in

         10  understanding how that process is explained, how

         11  people are trained and what the controls are.

         12                 Because I know in my house, if I'm

         13  watching something my daughter says, that's it, I'm

         14  going to my room. So, how is that really processed?

         15  How are people trained and how is that monitored?

         16                 MR. NOGALES: There is one more thing

         17  that I want to point out. There is a charge that in

         18  fact the People Meters have a drop-off rate, which

         19  means that people of color, first of all whites,

         20  have a drop-off rate, what is called button fatigue,

         21  of ten percent or approximately. With people of

         22  color it goes all the way up to 45 in some cases.

         23                 Now, it seems to me that it's not

         24  enough to say they're being lazy or they're taking a

         25  siesta, that you really have to do a human
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          2  engineering research study to find out what the

          3  problems are, if, in fact, this exists to this

          4  extent. Because the difference between ten percent

          5  drop off and 45 percent drop off is just tremendous,

          6  it's too much. So there's got to be reasons why this

          7  is happening. I would say to Nielsen that they have

          8  to correct that. That's very important. You can't go

          9  forward without correcting those kinds of problems.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Before I call on my

         11  colleagues, Council Member Sanders will be the first

         12  one, it has been brought to my attention, and that

         13  person will remain anonymous, but we have in fact

         14  found somebody who is a Nielsen family. So, I know

         15  all of my life I've never encountered one but this

         16  hearing has, if nothing else, has brought forth a

         17  real person. I want to give the Committee and the

         18  staff credit for working forward and at least

         19  identifying that.

         20                 Council Member Sanders.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair. It only shows that under your leadership

         23  we will find the invisible folk here, if need be.

         24                 I do want to join my chair in saying

         25  that I, too, was not only in church yesterday in an
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          2  eight o'clock service, in another church in an

          3  eleven o'clock service, which means that either I am

          4  closer to Heaven, or I have much more to repent for.

          5  And if the truth is told, it's probably the latter.

          6                 Our chair is right on another issue,

          7  too, when he speaks about the images of TV past, the

          8  images that we saw, and he spoke of the buffoons,

          9  but he neglected to speak of how TV past, and too

         10  much of TV today shows people of color as criminals

         11  also. Another image that we seem to have in

         12  America's shameful past.

         13                 The price of freedom is eternal

         14  vigilance, so I trust that our good friends at

         15  Nielsen will understand that those who have found

         16  themselves in an oppressive situation have to always

         17  look to make sure that they don't end back there

         18  again. So, I encourage your patience and your

         19  understanding that what may seem to be a pure

         20  technical flap exploited by some perhaps is

         21  something that the so-called minority communities or

         22  the communities of color seem to be really sticking

         23  with. I caution you and encourage your patience on

         24  this.

         25                 But it is interesting, let's speak
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          2  about the news corporation for a moment, it's worthy

          3  to speak of this group. Now, as the panelists have

          4  heard, there have been allegations that the News

          5  Corporation or Fox has been very interested in

          6  making sure that this issue sees the light of day.

          7                 Now, on one hand, that may not

          8  necessarily be a terrible thing. If this is a real

          9  issue, then Fox indeed may have done a public

         10  service. They may have done it for their own good,

         11  but a public service nonetheless. If it is not a

         12  real issue, then it is of course a real issue.

         13                 Now, just for the sake of truth in

         14  advertising, is there anyone who has a relationship

         15  with Fox or the News Corporation that they want to

         16  put on the table here.

         17                 MR. NOGALES: What kind of a

         18  relationship are you speaking about, Councilman?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I would

         20  really look for a financial relationship, and I

         21  don't mean -- I want to know, has Fox paid anybody

         22  to come out here? Have they, any monies over, let's

         23  see, any monies over $10,000 to any of your

         24  non-profits or anything over this issue?

         25                 MR. NOGALES: I have an event that I
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          2  do once a year and normally they give us about

          3  $10,000. But because of that petition to deny that I

          4  told you about, I didn't get any $10,000, number

          5  one. But I did get a letter saying we're

          6  reevaluating our relationship. So, this has cost me

          7  money, okay? But on the other hand, it is something

          8  that we agree with Fox on and the other networks on.

          9  So, it is very important from that point of view.

         10                 I am using their dime to come here

         11  from California to talk about this, absolutely. And

         12  I would do that in a minute. And so what if they

         13  have an interest in this, we all have an interest in

         14  this, monetarily or not. We just happen to coincide

         15  as to what this is.

         16                 MR. WILLIAMS: Councilman Sanders,

         17  just for the record, I want to be clear, and it's no

         18  big secret, we have had a relationship, i.e., One

         19  Hundred Black Men, Incorporated, a charitable

         20  volunteer organization, have had a relationship with

         21  news corporations for well over seven or eight years

         22  well before I became president of One Hundred Black

         23  Men. That relationship continues to this day, and it

         24  involves some very worthy and substantive programs

         25  that we do with news corporations, primarily in the
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          2  Bronx but in other locations as well.

          3                 As a good corporate citizen, news

          4  corporation, along with a host of other companies in

          5  this City, happen to support the work and mission of

          6  One Hundred Black Men. That support, however, does

          7  not keep us from speaking out on issues pro or con,

          8  as we see fit and as we call them.

          9                 So, the fact that Fox may have an

         10  interest aligned with us on this issue, it's merely

         11  coincidental. When this issue was brought to my

         12  attention by my friend and fellow Board Member

         13  Congressman Leeks, I looked at it and determined as

         14  a leader in this City, and as someone that thinks of

         15  these issues, that it's an important issue to get to

         16  the bottom of, regardless whether Fox was in the

         17  picture or not. And that's what we're calling on

         18  Nielsen to do. Let's get to the bottom of this.

         19  Let's get some exposure to the methodology. Let's

         20  get it independently tested and verified to make

         21  sure that it's accurate.

         22                 We know already that their prior

         23  system wasn't accurate. So, why do we step from the

         24  frying pan into the fire potentially with what could

         25  be potentially a worst system. Let's look at it.
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          2                 REVEREND DEGRAV: Councilman, everyone

          3  in these days is interested in the issue of full

          4  disclosure, and so that's an appropriate question,

          5  but I want to, at least not from you but at least

          6  address an implication of the question, and that's

          7  integrity for sale.

          8                 Those of us in the clergy and others

          9  at this table and in the Coalition have stood up for

         10  social justice when the policies of the United

         11  States government were contrary to our views when we

         12  stood up on Jenkins. We've stood in lonely places

         13  and scary places, and being threatened either

         14  explicitly or implicitly by the Police Department

         15  when we stood up on the Diallo question. Some of us

         16  have gone to jail and stood behind bars on issues of

         17  social justice.

         18                 So, the question, the implication

         19  about integrity, I just want to set that record

         20  straight and let the works we've done speak for us.

         21  So, we're saying that no organization that is

         22  represented in the Coalition was formed yesterday.

         23  All of them have long histories of standing up for

         24  fairness, inclusion, equality and full

         25  participation. We're happy to present our records to
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          2  you and respond to your questions, but I want to get

          3  to an implication so that no one leaves these

          4  chambers understanding that we've been compromised

          5  by any relationship prior to today.

          6                 MS. LOPEZ: Speaking on behalf of the

          7  Hispanic Federation, I want to say that we received

          8  no funding from News Corp with relation to this

          9  issue, but I also wanted to also make a point of

         10  clarification, most non-profits, all non-profits

         11  enjoy some diversity of funding, whether it's

         12  government, corporate or foundation. So, if the

         13  Hispanic Federation or another Latino non-profit

         14  receives funding from News Corp, most likely they're

         15  also receiving it from CBS, NBC, Telemundo (in

         16  Spanish), there's a whole combination. So, there's

         17  no impetus for jumping in on the Nielsen issue

         18  because if it's an issue of funding and integrity,

         19  if you go with one partner, you harm your

         20  relationship with another partner. If people are on

         21  diverse sides of an issue, and when this issue was

         22  raised in a major newspaper, I have to say this,

         23  about two weeks ago, I believe it was the Wall

         24  Street Journal, I found it insulting to our

         25  community because it meant that we were not eager or

                                                            119

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  willing to jump into controversial issues, that we

          3  could not understand things that were too

          4  complicated, and it brought to mind a book by

          5  Domenic Dunn of many years ago, Bonfire of the

          6  Vanities, which meant that our community could only

          7  be active if we were being fed like a steam engine.

          8  Not the case on this issue.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: In the

         11  interest of full disclosure, I must admit that

         12  politicals also may receive campaign contributions,

         13  I cannot recall any contribution from Fox or News

         14  Corporation. I just want to show that all around

         15  this table, it is not unusual. But I will also go a

         16  step further and say, if they did send a

         17  contribution to me, I would in no way feel compelled

         18  to go in a company line, and I expect the people on

         19  the other side to do the same, to be the same. If

         20  there were any contribution, that does not mean that

         21  someone buys your soul. That does not mean that this

         22  is the cost of your valor or any of these things. It

         23  may mean that there is a convergence of we

         24  appreciate this particular issue, and that's all

         25  that I was trying to bring up. I have no intention
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          2  of insulting the good people around that table with

          3  that. Because often I, too, receive a contribution

          4  and have to turn around and do what is right for the

          5  people of my district, regardless of what that

          6  contribution is.

          7                 In fact, I have a point of telling

          8  people, you can give me a contribution and I hope

          9  that we can agree on every point, but I do reserve

         10  the right to do what is right.

         11                 I did hear, going further, I did hear

         12  that a possible solution, and I'm interested and

         13  I'll conclude here, Mr. Chair, a possible solution

         14  is a postponement and a refinement of this tool, a

         15  refinement that is acceptable, a refinement that has

         16  honest brokers looking into this, a refinement that

         17  is done on a professional level, and I agree that

         18  that seems to be a very worthy cost. It seems that

         19  Nielsen is heading that way with a task force, I

         20  join the voice of those encouraging a further

         21  refinement. The four points that Mr. Williams raised

         22  seemed to be very logical under these conditions,

         23  and I'm sure that the other points that the other

         24  people have raised at this panel also.

         25                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair. And
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          2  thank you very much to the panel.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Council

          4  Member.

          5                 Council Member Monserrate.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chair.

          8                 Let me just say in my part that I was

          9  truly impressed by the panel, the four of you. I

         10  think that your analysis and utterings of the

         11  concerns of our respective communities were

         12  inspiring and I think that the type of activism that

         13  you as leaders, the Council members that sit with me

         14  on the steps and Assembly Members and so forth, is a

         15  calling to what our communities can do and must do

         16  to ensure respect for our communities. You are truly

         17  champions, I look forward to working with you, and

         18  I'm hoping that this new task force incorporates you

         19  as voices for our communities that will defend us.

         20  And not to say that there is a diabolical plot by

         21  Corporate America or Nielsen per say, but there has

         22  been a history. There has been a history in this

         23  nation that is very clear and apparent, and we have

         24  happy to have activists such as yourselves taking

         25  time off from whatever else you're doing to testify
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          2  to these very pertinent issues.

          3                 So, thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I want to echo what

          5  has been said here, and we are going to continue, as

          6  I said, with our hearing on this.

          7                 I think most of the questions that we

          8  had you have answered. The staff has said to me, the

          9  question they have put down here, which I think is

         10  an interesting one. Is there any possibility, in

         11  your mind, that the new data is actually more

         12  accurate than the previous method? In other words,

         13  we're concerned about this but do we think that

         14  perhaps the information that we were using or that

         15  Nielsen was using was for information to begin with,

         16  particularly since there's sort of nothing else to

         17  measure it again?

         18                 The problem is that Nielsen is

         19  Nielsen. There's nothing else that says, you know,

         20  the Maris poll says this, but Piak poll (phonetic)

         21  says something else. We don't have that situation

         22  with Nielsen.

         23                 Yes, Mr. Nogales.

         24                 MR. NOGALES: I don't think it's a

         25  machine itself that is a problem. It is an
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          2  improvement over the diary. But that's not the

          3  problem. The problem is the base of how they got

          4  there with proper sampling representation. That is

          5  the problem. So, unless we go down to that base and

          6  study that and come out with an honest and clear

          7  mechanism as to how you got there, so what. You can

          8  put as many People Meters as you want, they're going

          9  to mean absolutely nothing for communities of color.

         10                 MR. WILLIAMS: Mr. Chair, on that

         11  point? I don't concede any aspect of the LPM system

         12  to be valid, because for my money at this point in

         13  time, I haven't seen anything that suggests that

         14  it's been verified. Yet, I have seen statistics that

         15  give me grave concern that it may in fact be flawed.

         16  Even the technology itself. Even the shape or

         17  fashion of the remote itself. I don't know --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Mr. Williams, I'm

         19  sorry, I guess I heard you --

         20                 MR. WILLIAMS: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: But did we ever

         22  have any evidence that to verify the old form, the

         23  diary form?

         24                 MR. WILLIAMS: You're absolutely

         25  correct. To my knowledge, no. What I suggest, and I

                                                            124

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  have suggested to Nielsen, that the diary system is

          3  what people have relied on up to this point in time.

          4  Why a rush when it's been relied on to change it

          5  before we know for sure that the new system is

          6  accurate?

          7                 REVEREND DEGRAV: And Mr. Chairman, as

          8  was said by Paul Williams in the four points that he

          9  outlined, one of the things that we're concerned is

         10  that before any new system is put in place, that

         11  there be a period of testing and review by the task

         12  force and by independent experts. That's a critical

         13  element to the integrity of the methodology. And,

         14  so, while we have a score of questions about the

         15  past, that at least is the what is, and people have

         16  been functioning on it, so we don't think it's

         17  unreasonable to say you can extend that without any

         18  dire repercussions while we put in a system that we

         19  have more confidence and that's tested in place.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, all,

         21  very much for your testimony. We will let you know

         22  the date. I have asked the representatives of

         23  Nielsen to come back because I have a couple of

         24  questions, rather straightforward and simple ones,

         25  that have come out of your testimony, but we're not
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          2  going to have a back and forth rebuttal, but you're

          3  welcome certainly to stay.

          4                 I have two questions. I don't know if

          5  you all need to come, but why don't you.

          6                 Thank you, and I presume you

          7  understand you're still under oath here to the

          8  Committee.

          9                 Mr. Ayala, I couldn't help but watch

         10  you being a little bit concerned. Could you tell us

         11  how exactly, to the best of your knowledge, the

         12  remote works? I think you heard the testimony, or

         13  the concerns that people had about multiple -- could

         14  you help us just with some technical clarification?

         15                 MS. AYALA: Sure.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         17                 MS. AYALA: Well, Mr. Chairman, first

         18  let me say to you, as we speak right now, I have a

         19  home, an African-American home, who is being

         20  installed at this very moment, whom I will join when

         21  I leave here, to coach them or train them how to use

         22  the People Meter, because that, as a panel relations

         23  membership representative, is what we do.

         24                 And, so, the remote control that goes

         25  with the People Meter has buttons. Each of the
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          2  buttons represents the household members that will

          3  use this button. As Juan said earlier, every person

          4  in a household is assigned a button that is unique

          5  just to them. When the People Meter is installed

          6  onto the television.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In other words, one

          8  of these eight buttons on here? It's numbered one

          9  through eight?

         10                 MS. AYALA: It's numbered one through

         11  eight.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         13                 MS. AYALA: So, if I am a household

         14  member, I would be button number one, let's say. You

         15  hit your button number one, you hit okay, that's it.

         16  You're in the People Meter. It is now calculating or

         17  recording whatever it is that you're watching.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And is there only

         19  one of these per household?

         20                 MS. AYALA: No, no. And as a matter of

         21  fact, for every television that is in a household,

         22  there is a People Meter and a remote control, and to

         23  answer the question of, well, what happens if I lose

         24  a remote? The People Meter works such that even if

         25  you don't have a remote, you just hit the button on
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          2  top of the People Meter and you hit okay, and you're

          3  in the People Meter as well.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, it's sort of

          5  like what you can do at home is work the box --

          6                 MS. AYALA: Exactly.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- Cable box or

          8  something, remote?

          9                 MS. AYALA: Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I mean by going to

         11  the box.

         12                 MS. AYALA: Absolutely. And I want to

         13  assure you, just like your remote has stickers

         14  there, as a membership representative, what I do on

         15  a daily basis is ensure that whatever the needs of

         16  the household to use this equipment, that they are

         17  comfortable with it, I'm going to do that. One home

         18  may need stickers, another home may need some other

         19  type of drawing. If that's the case where we're

         20  working with children.

         21                 We spend ample amounts of time to

         22  make sure that before we leave that home, and myself

         23  personally, before I leave any home, they can use

         24  this equipment. And I would actually argue that in

         25  many cases, whether it's a home that has one person
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          2  or eight people, they are fully aware of how to use

          3  this equipment. And if there's ever an issue of not

          4  knowing how to use it, I'll go right back out there

          5  to make sure that they do know how to use it

          6  properly, because that's the commitment. That's my

          7  job.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          9                 The last question I have for the day,

         10  and you may have a whole other line of questioning

         11  at the next hearing, we've talked specifically about

         12  households, I guess the expression is of color,

         13  Latinos, African-Americans, Asians, et cetera, do

         14  you know if Nielsen specifically identifies same sex

         15  households?

         16                 MS. AYALA: If we specifically

         17  identify? Well, let me just tell you --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In other words, are

         19  you looking to see what gay people are looking at on

         20  TV?

         21                 MS. AYALA: Well, I'll tell you this:

         22  As a recruiting practice, I never know who lives

         23  behind the doors. All I'm given is an address and

         24  until I go to that home, I don't know who lives

         25  there. And at that time of my first meeting with
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          2  that home, that's when I meet the people behind

          3  those doors. So that's the selected home, whether

          4  it's same sex, whether it's a heterosexual --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I understand your

          6  question. Is there anybody else who wants to respond

          7  to that?

          8                 MR. DONATO: I think your question

          9  specifically is do we track, for example, same sex

         10  households? And the answer is, no, we do not. We

         11  don't have any specific procedures to monitor that

         12  information.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, we'll explore

         14  that more at the next hearing.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 Seeing no one else to testify today,

         17  this hearing is adjourned.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 (The following written testimony was

         20  read into the record.)

         21

         22

         23  Written Testimony Of:

         24  Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum

         25
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          2                 Thank you for inviting me to testify

          3  before you today.

          4                 I am concerned about Nielsen Media

          5  Research's plan to roll out the new Local People

          6  Meters (LPMs) in the New York City media market.

          7  Many unanswered questions must be addressed before

          8  moving forward to implement the LPM system in New

          9  York City.

         10                 Under pressure, Nielsen agreed to

         11  form a task force with Congressman Charlie Rengal,

         12  but as of yet, to my knowledge, no meeting has been

         13  held, and other task force members have not been

         14  announced.

         15                 The problem with Nielsen's new LPM

         16  system is that it records huge drops in viewership

         17  of minority programming compared to similar samples

         18  using the old system.

         19                 When the LPM system was test-marketed

         20  in New York City in February, top-rated primetime

         21  programs among New York City African-Americans --

         22  like the Parkers -- saw unexplained drops in

         23  viewership of up to 60 percent. Similarly disturbing

         24  drops were seen in Spanish-language programming with

         25  both Univision and Telemundo suffering abrupt
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          2  declines in ratings gauged by LPM's compared to

          3  ratings gauged by the current system.

          4                 Nielsen's own research shows that LPM

          5  technology may undercount African-American and

          6  Latino viewers by 25 percent. Nielsen has offered no

          7  explanation as to why African-American and Latino

          8  programming were so negatively affected, while

          9  programming geared towards predominantly white

         10  audiences was either not affected at all or effected

         11  positively. And Nielsen has never made any effort to

         12  test the accuracy of Local People Meters in an

         13  ethnically diverse, racially mixed, urban market.

         14                 There are many questions that still

         15  need to be answered.

         16                 Why did the new system have such a

         17  negative impact on shows predominantly geared

         18  towards African-American and Latino viewers?

         19                 Are certain demographic groups less

         20  likely to accurately use this technology to report

         21  viewership?

         22                 Are younger viewers less likely to

         23  accurately report? And if so, how are they skewing

         24  the numbers?

         25                 What are Nielsen's plans to train
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          2  people on the use of the new technology?

          3                 How does the viewership get recorded?

          4                 Implementation of this new technology

          5  in a city as diverse as New York has the potential

          6  to disproportionately undercount African-American

          7  and Latino viewers, which may lead to cancellation

          8  of numerous programs targeted towards minority

          9  communities. It would also have a chilling effect on

         10  advertisers looking to reach African-American and

         11  Latino viewers and ultimately compromise efforts to

         12  encourage greater diversity in TV programming.

         13                 With so many issues still left to be

         14  addressed, I request an explanation of how the new

         15  LPM technology functions and its potential impact on

         16  minority viewership.

         17                 The minority population of New York

         18  City has been undercounted in the past. There is the

         19  example of Census undercounting of minorities,

         20  especially in the Bronx, resulting in a loss of

         21  government aid and legislative representation. I

         22  fear that undercounting by Nielsen would be yet

         23  another case of the minority community of New York

         24  City getting shortchanged.

         25                 Nielsen has said that it will use the
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          2  extra two months before the expected June rollout to

          3  consult the public, examine its system, and find

          4  solutions to ensure that all populations are

          5  counted. Nielsen must take the time to conduct a

          6  full and thorough investigation of the impact of the

          7  LPM system on a large, ethnically and culturally

          8  diverse urban market.

          9                 The task force must meet, the

         10  questions must be answered, and the technology must

         11  be changed if it does not accurately reflect

         12  viewership before any roll out of the LPM system in

         13  New York City.

         14                 (Hearing concluded at 12:52 p.m.)
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